

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Early Childhood Teachers' Perspectives of Being a PBIS Coach

Tiesha Laguan Allen Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Pre-Elementary, Early Childhood, Kindergarten Teacher Education Commons

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Tiesha L. Allen-Vanover

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Terri Edwards, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Donald Yarosz, Committee Member, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Early Childhood Teachers' Perspectives of Being a PBIS Coach

by

Tiesha L. Allen-Vanover

EDS, Albany State University, 2015

MS, Albany State University 2005

BS, Albany State University, 2001

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

School districts across the United States have seen an increase in the number of students who need behavioral support. The problem is that early childhood teachers who serve as Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) coaches have challenges implementing the PBIS framework because of lack of buy in and resources such as time and funding. This basic qualitative study was conducted to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within the school. The conceptual framework used for this study was implementation science. The research questions for this qualitative study focused on the perspectives of the teachers and their experiences with PBIS implementation. Semi-structured interviews were used as a way to collect the data from 10 participants who serve as PBIS coaches and have been in the position for at least 3 years. The thematic analysis of this data was conducted using Braun and Clarke's 6 step framework. The analysis identified four key themes: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching, (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in, (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support, and (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS. Exploring the perspectives of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches may initiate positive social change by informing stakeholders of challenges with implementing PBIS, and the results may inform them of possible solutions to improve implementation and decrease problematic behavior.

Early Childhood Teachers' Perspectives of Being a PBIS Coach

by

Tiesha L. Allen-Vanover

EDS, Albany State University, 2015

MS, Albany State University 2005

BS, Albany State University, 2001

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my husband, Bryan Vanover, bonus daughter, Camoria, and poodle pup, Brinx. Thank you for all of your patience, understanding, and support as I strived to complete this prestigious endeavor. Your love and support did not go unnoticed. You assured me, pushed me, and held me accountable for sticking to what I started. For that, I am forever grateful and I love you with all my heart.

To my parents, Mr. and Mrs. CJ and Ozzie Armstrong and Eddie C. Howard Jr., thank you for your love and support as I completed this process. Your words of encouragement fueled me when I thought about giving up. To my cousin Regina, without your love and support, this would not be possible. While going through your own storm, you helped to push me to the next level and assured me that it was all worth it in the end. To Dr. Shereca Harvey, thank you for being an amazing mentor. I will never forget your constant reminders of, "The best dissertation is a completed dissertation." To my cousin Kathy, we have supported each other throughout this journey. You are up next. To my cousin Arkimmie, you have encouraged me and provided so much wisdom from the beginning to the end. To Lori Washington, thank you for always pushing me to be great. To Teneka Brown, you spoke this into existence. You manifested my journey in your constant Facebook posts and comments. To my wonderful family, friends, and colleagues, thank you for your supportive words and encouragement as I was working towards bettering myself and achieving my goals. Also, thank you for understanding that my absence had a purpose.

Acknowledgments

"It is not how you start, but how you finish." This quote has guided me from the time I realized the difference between equality and equity. Everyone's "Why" is different. My "Why" was because I had to work and prove myself that I too was worthy of all the things that life had to offer. Although I was doubtful on occasion, I had faith and stay the course.

Thank you to my phenomenal chair, Dr. Terri Edwards. It was divine that I was assigned to you. You have provided me with not only the knowledge and guidance throughout the process, but the encouragement that I needed to continue. You held me accountable and because of that, I was able to stay focused. Lastly, thank you for providing me with the individualized attention that I needed. There was never a time when you were not available to answer questions or provide feedback.

Table of Contents

Lis	st of Tables	V
Ch	apter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background	2
	Problem Statement	5
	Purpose of the Study	8
	Research Questions	8
	Conceptual Framework	8
	Nature of the Study	11
	Definitions	12
	Assumptions	13
	Scope and Delimitations	13
	Limitations	14
	Significance	15
	Summary	15
Ch	apter 2: Literature Review	17
	Literature Search Strategy	18
	Conceptual Framework/Theoretical Foundation	18
	Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable	22
	PBIS Definition	22
	Understanding School-Wide PBIS	23
	PBIS in Early Childhood Education	25
	The Need for Professional Development in PBIS Schools	27

	The Roles and Responsibilities of the PBIS Coach	28
	Barriers to Implementing EBPs	30
	The Facilitation of PBIS Implementation Fidelity Tools	33
	Impact of Successful PBIS Implementation and Sustainability	36
	Teacher Perspectives of PBIS	38
	Summary and Conclusions	40
Cha	apter 3: Research Method	42
	Research Design and Rationale	42
	Role of the Researcher	44
	Methodology	45
	Participant Selection	45
	Instrumentation	46
	Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	47
	Data Analysis Plan	48
	Trustworthiness	50
	Ethical Procedures	52
	Summary	53
Cha	apter 4: Results	54
	Setting 55	
	Data Collection	56
	Data Analysis	57
	Phase 1: Familiarizing Myself With the Data	58
	Phase 2: Generating Codes	58

Phase 3: Searching for Themes	62
Phase 4: Reviewing the Themes	62
Phase 5: Defining and Labeling Themes	62
Phase 6: Producing the Report	64
Results 65	
Theme 1: PBIS Coaches Must Be Trained and Have Experience to	
Accomplish the Roles and Responsibilities of Coaching	66
Theme 2: PBIS Coaches Are Challenged by Limited Resources,	
Workload, and Staff Buy-In	70
Theme 3: PBIS Coaches Promote Positive School Climate Through	
Uniform Expectations, Acknowledging Students and Staff, and	
Providing Staff Support	75
Theme 4: PBIS Coaches Need Resources and Necessary Support to	
Improve PBIS	78
Evidence of Trustworthiness	82
Credibility	82
Transferability	83
Dependability	84
Confirmability	84
Summary	84
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	88
Interpretation of the Findings	89

Theme 1: PBIS Coaches Must Be Trained and Have Experience to	
Accomplish the Roles and Responsibilities of Coaching	90
Theme 2: PBIS Coaches Are Challenged by Limited Resources,	
Workload, and Staff Buy-In	92
Theme 3: PBIS Coaches Promote Positive School Climate Through	
Uniform Expectations, Acknowledging Students and Staff, and	
Providing Staff Support	95
Theme 4: PBIS Coaches Need Resources and Necessary Support to	
Improve PBIS	98
Limitations of the Study	100
Recommendations	101
Implications	103
Conclusion	104
References	105
Appendix A: Interview Questions	129
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	130

List of Tables

Table 1. Research Participants	55
Table 2. Examples of Open Codes	59
Table 3. Examples of Open Codes and Categories	61
Table 4. Categories and Themes	64

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

According to Hannigan and Hannigan (2020), school districts have reported an increase in the number of students who need additional behavioral support. Educators have stressed the ongoing concern that there is a need for additional assistance in supporting the needs of students (Yanek & Goodman, 2023). Hannigan and Hannigan suggested that policymakers, administrators, teachers, and parents strive to find solutions to the problem and provide students with a safe, protective, and welcoming environment. Lloyd et al. (2023) revealed that addressing student behavior has drastically changed over the last three decades. One widely implemented evidence-based practice (EBP) in districts is Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (PBIS) (Center on PBIS, 2018). Adopted in more than 25,000 schools, PBIS is a three-tiered preventive structure (primary prevention, secondary prevention, and tertiary prevention) linked to advanced student behavior management and positive academic results (Kittleman et al., 2019; Wienen et al., 2018). The implementation of PBIS can create a school climate that is positive and not punitive and allow students and staff to build better relationships with each other while increasing learning opportunities.

Early childhood education teachers who are PBIS coaches use PBIS to help them apply effective methods to support students' social and emotional growth (Bhatnagar & Many, 2022). Bradshaw et al. (2021) suggested that PBIS's main goal is to evaluate student and staff behavior in the school environment. If early childhood education teachers who serve as PBIS coaches focus on organizational principles such as building capacity, PBIS coaching support, and professional development, the behavior of students

can be improved (Kittleman et al., 2019; Robbie et al., 2022). Robert (2020), however, found that teachers who were PBIS coaches do not have time to plan for PBIS due to scheduling conflicts.

In Chapter 1, I summarize relevant literature about PBIS and teacher coaches' perspectives. The problem statement includes a context to frame the purpose of the study focused on exploring teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach. Additionally, I provide information about the nature of the study, key terms, assumptions, delimitations, limitations, and the significance of the study.

Background

According to Clemons (2021), PBIS is a framework applied to prevent behavioral problems, provide a continuum of support for students, and mitigate punitive reactions due to inappropriate conduct commonly noted in students. Scherer and Ingle (2020) revealed that PBIS was introduced as a strategy to help students with disabilities in the reauthorization of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Scherer and Ingle noted that Congress added PBIS as an approach to assist these students with their misbehavior and prevent them from being suspended. As a result, teachers have been using the PBIS framework to transform school culture while offering behavioral assistance to enhance a safe, orderly, and sufficient learning context.

PBIS and School-Wide Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports (SWPBIS) have evolved over the years into more advanced and inclusive practices (Robert, 2020).

The multi-tiered systems of support (MTSS) framework was created to minimize problem behaviors while increasing students' social skills (Nese et al., 2019). Clayton et

al. (2020) found that effective leadership and communication are essential skills in implementing the PBIS framework successfully. According to Nese et al. (2023), systems level teaming processes are crucial when implementing PBIS across the tiers and proper creation of the team aids in the effectiveness. McIntosh (2018) indicated that effective implementation of PBIS, with guidance from PBIS coaches, can be accomplished by using data for decision making. Yanek and Goodman (2023) agreed that evaluating data is key for PBIS teams when making instructional and social-emotional behavioral support decisions. With proper decision-making, the PBIS team can collectively identify problem areas within the school and work towards providing solutions for them.

Tiered systems help support teachers by outlining a clear and consistent structure for collaboration, which aids in providing assistance for general and special education students (Oakes et al., 2020). Tier 1 of MTSS involves the provision of universal PBIS support to all students, where the behavioral expectations are taught and students are acknowledged when those expectations are met (Steed et al., 2022). Tier 1 teams help staff implement PBIS with fidelity (Center on PBIS, 2018). The PBIS team consists of a PBIS coach, teachers, administrators, support staff, parents, and students who help establish the systems and practices of SWPBIS (Bastable et al., 2020; Center on PBIS, 2018). A core component of PBIS is the internal coach (Center on PBIS, 2018). Bastable et al. (2020) indicated that the role of the school PBIS coach is significant because the individual selected is responsible for organizing team meetings, aiding in analyzing school data, delivering staff professional development, and evaluating Tier 1 systems.

Historically, discipline in schools has been reactive rather than proactive (Palmer & Noltemeyer, 2019). Early childhood teachers need to implement daily classroom routines and know how to address misbehavior in the classroom for better implementation of the PBIS framework (Carr & Boat, 2019). Yanek and Goodman (2023) agreed that creating classroom norms and explicitly taught routines are conducive for teaching and learning. Scherer and Ingle (2020) indicated that PBIS is not a curriculum or program, but a proactive approach to reducing punitive responses to misbehaviors. The PBIS framework is used by teachers to understand how to support students. Teachers who serve as PBIS coaches need to guarantee that best practice implementation is dependable, especially when considering the best outcomes for students (Kittleman et al., 2019).

An integral part of SWPBIS is coaching (Winnekar & Fox, 2020). Coaching support is an effective strategy for providing early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches with the additional support and tools needed to implement EBPs successfully (Kelly et al., 2022). PBIS coaches use various tools such as observations, staff and member feedback, checklists, and surveys to identify the type and amount of coaching support needed to implement PBIS (Bastable et al., 2020). The roles and responsibilities of PBIS coaches include supporting schools' initiatives and sustainable learning, monitoring databases to analyze student data related to behavior, and participating in PBIS leadership conferences and meetings. Previous studies have not addressed implementation efforts from the perspective of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches. This qualitative study was designed to explore the gap in practice

concerning early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches struggling to implement PBIS with fidelity.

Problem Statement

Due to an increase in the number of students needing behavioral supports, the expectation for early childhood teachers to serve as PBIS coaches, and the barriers that early childhood teachers face, there is a need to explore how early childhood teachers perceive their role as PBIS coaches in the implementation of the PBIS/SWPBIS initiative. Tyre and Feuerborn (2021) stated that staff struggle with implementing PBIS with fidelity because they do not want to implement additional EBPs. They believe that PBIS is another packaged curriculum that they will have to teach. Tyre and Feuerborn further stated that staff must be trained to understand that PBIS will be successful when they implement the practices with fidelity. According to Menzies et al. (2020) and Robert (2020), early childhood teachers struggle with implementing PBIS with fidelity due to low buy-in and minimal resources such as time and funding. Kelly et al. (2022) added that teachers also struggle with implementation due to lack of coaching support, knowledge of behavioral interventions, effective coaching practices.

PBIS has proven effective among primary school students in the United States (Robert, 2020). Research has shown that teachers implementing SWPBIS with fidelity have experienced a lower rate of office discipline referrals, an improved school atmosphere (Kittleman et al., 2022), and an enhanced capacity to implement more individualized and intensive support (Kim et al., 2018). Research on the implementation of the PBIS framework has demonstrated that teachers' perspectives (Nichols et al.,

2020) and leadership styles and approaches (Clayton et al., 2020) affect its adoption with fidelity. According to McColskey-Leary et al. (2021), educational interventions and programs are put into place without identification of the supports needed, which negatively impacts implementation. Once school leaders identify a need for change or new practice, they should not implement the initiatives without ensuring proper planning and capacity building first.

PBIS coaches lead their staff by helping them identify what is needed to implement programs successfully, as well as the process needed to elevate the environment in which they are implemented. Even though there is growing evidence that PBIS implementation with fidelity has a positive impact on the overall development of a student, early childhood teachers have not successfully achieved their intended goals in various public schools despite investments (Bradshaw et al., 2021; Horner & Macaya, 2018). There are no policies put in place by the government and other education stakeholders that mandate the implementation of PBIS in public schools (Center on PBIS, 2019). Simonsen et al. (2019) highlighted that although government policy does not make PBIS mandatory, guidance is provided for schools to assist with data collection, personal preparation, and practices. According to Eppley et al. (2018), Every Student Succeeds Act requires that EBPs are encoded in policy; however, this does not specify the requirement of PBIS.

Implementing PBIS with fidelity may be challenging for early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches due to their primary roles and responsibilities. According to Nese et al. (2019), implementing PBIS in schools is complex due to the variety of

supports that are needed for success. Clayton et al. (2020) stated that researchers found that PBIS implementation was achievable when there was administrator support and that without administrators' support, there may not be sustainability. Support and resources from outside the school are required to implement PBIS programs with fidelity (Menzies et al., 2020; Nese et al., 2019). The average time for schools to implement PBIS is 2 years. Researchers stated that their findings identified a gap in practice in fidelity practices such as time allocation, competing responsibilities, coaching support, and training or professional development (Bastable et al., 2021; Lloyd et al., 2023; Robert, 2020). Early childhood teachers who do not have support and resources are at risk of experiencing teacher burnout (Herman et al., 2018; Oakes et al., 2020). According to Tyre and Feuerborn (2021), PBIS is worth the investment when PBIS coaches are knowledgeable about PBIS, have a positive attitude regarding implementation, and receive hours of professional development. Researchers have also stated that studies conducted to explore the lack of fidelity and implementation practices of PBIS have placed minimal focus on district factors such as adoption practices (Kittleman et al., 2020).

Bastable et al. (2021) argued that the MTSS framework must have PBIS coaching support as an integral part of SWPBIS. Most of the responsibility for the implementation and fidelity of PBIS is left up to PBIS coaches, who are also classroom teachers, and who have other responsibilities such as grading student work and writing lesson plans. The authors indicated that teachers view teaching as their primary role while PBIS comes second. Kittleman et al. (2020) explained that successful implementation at every stage of

PBIS requires training and ongoing coaching support. According to Bastable et al. (2020), providing coaching support for teachers who are PBIS coaches is vital for successful PBIS implementation and fidelity.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within the school. Researchers have shown that practice-level and school-level factors where teachers engage in regular activities to improve fidelity affect the quality of implementation of PBIS (Nese et al., 2019). School-level factors such as race, socioeconomic status, and school structure also affect implementation. Early childhood teachers may use the conclusions of this study when implementing PBIS and sustaining a PBIS program with fidelity in their school. A constructivist paradigm was used to construct new knowledge using teachers' interview data on being a PBIS coach.

Research Questions

The following questions guided my qualitative study:

- RQ 1: What are early childhood teachers' perspectives of being PBIS coaches?
- RQ 2: What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS?

Conceptual Framework

In this basic qualitative study, I explored the perspectives of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches and what is needed to improve implementation of PBIS. The conceptual framework that was used to ground this study was based on

implementation science. Moir (2018) stated that implementation science is the study of essential components needed to promote authentic adoption of EBPs to increase effectiveness. The cross-disciplinary field of implementation science has promoted positive outcomes for children and students with disabilities (Cook et al., 2013). Nilsen et al. (2013) noted that researchers in implementation science have imported and used various theories that can aid in improving the framework and help with the planning and implementation process. These theories involve contextual, organizational, and economic concepts. Nilsen (2015) stated that there are three overarching aims of the use of theories, models, and frameworks of implementation science: detailing the process of translating research into practice, understanding and explaining what influences implementation outcomes, and evaluating implementation.

Implementation involves identifying and addressing multiple factors that aid or impede the adoption and sustainment of EBPs (Lyon, n.d.). Cook et al. (2013) indicated that implementation science promoted methods to improve the routine practice of evidence-based programs. Bauer and Kirchner (2020) argued that the goal of the implementation science framework is to identify dynamics affecting the uptake of an innovation into routine application. In this regard, the core of implementation science is as follows:

 recognizing uptake facilitators and obstacles across various levels of setting (students, educators, schools, and parents) developing and applying implementation approaches able to overcome these obstacles and promote the enablers to enhance the uptake of EBPs such as PBIS.

Cook and Odom (2013) further indicated that implementation science entails studying and acknowledging how evidence-based programs are espoused and sustained via seven core implementation components: (a) pre-service and in-service training, (b) program evaluations, (c) staff selection, (d) systems interventions, (e) facilitative administrative support, (f) staff evaluation, and (g) ongoing consultation and coaching. Lyon et al. (2018) affirmed that changing professional behavior, techniques, and approaches is vital in adopting new interventions so that they will be incorporated sufficiently.

These implementation strategies improve implementation and service outcomes. In education, implementation science is defined as the scientific study of methods and strategies that support commitment to EBPs with fidelity (McColskey-Leary & Garmen-McClaine, 2021). The strategies and supports should include training, coaching teams, and leadership to move these EBPs into routine use. Lyon et al. (2018) claimed that PBIS implementation must unfold over time in multiple phases with complex, multilevel systems using continual professional development and other support. Lyons et al. stressed that inadequate attention to system influences can prevent successful implementation. In Chapter 2, I provide a detailed explanation of implementation science as it relates to the perspectives of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches and their experiences implementing PBIS.

Nature of the Study

To gain a better understanding of early childhood teachers' perspectives, who are PBIS coaches, and the challenges and success of implementation and fidelity practices, I conducted a basic qualitative research design. According to Sutton and Austin (2015), qualitative approaches assist researchers with acquiring information about the thoughts and feelings of the participants which can allow them the ability to understand their experiences. Qualitative methods are critical for implementation science as they allow the researcher the opportunity to examine complexity and include a diversity of perspectives (Ramanadhan et al., 2021). I also explored their experiences of implementation practices of PBIS.

The participants were early childhood education teachers who serve in the capacity of the school PBIS coach with at least 3 years of PBIS coaching experience. The participants were selected using the Walden University participant pool and social media groups that focus on PBIS. The data was collected using semi-structured interviews with a minimum of 10 to 12 early childhood teachers. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), interviews are successful ways to obtain information about individuals' personal experiences. These interviews were conducted via telephone or Zoom. Their responses were audio recorded for later transcription and coding.

There are numerous approaches to conducting thematic analysis. Braun and Clark (2006) created a six-phase process to aid in analyzing data. I used the process once the audio recordings have been transcribed. At Phase 1, I read the transcripts carefully and repeatedly to familiarize myself with the data that was collected. All interview notes and

audio remained confidential. Coding was conducted at Phase 2. Miles and Huberman (1994) indicated that codes are tags or labels for assigning units of meaning. At Phase 3, I identified emerging themes to answer the research questions and reviewed the themes at Phase 4. I continued the analysis process until no new themes emerged. Phases 5 was used for defining and naming the themes and in Phase 6, I provided a finalized analysis report. A detailed description is provided in Chapter 3.

Definitions

The following definitions of key concepts were used throughout the study.

Evidence-Based Practices (EBPs): Practices and programs shown by high-quality research to have meaningful effects on student outcomes (Eppley et al., 2018).

Multi-Tiered Systems of Support (MTSS): An overarching system of support that provides three tiers of instructional intensity focusing on academic, behavioral, social, and emotional indicators of whole child components of learning (Sailor et al., 2020).

PBIS Coach: Individual(s) who provides support to the PBIS team and school in implementing and sustaining PBIS (Baker & Ryan, 2019).

Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (PBIS): An evidence-based three-tiered framework designed to improve and integrate all data, systems, and practices affecting student outcomes every day (Center on PBIS, 2020).

School-wide Positive Behavior Interventions and Supports (SWPBIS): A multitiered framework to make schools more effective places by establishing a social culture and the behavior supports needed to improve social, emotional, behavioral, and academic outcomes for all students (Center on PBIS, 2020). Tiered Fidelity Inventory (TFI): A comprehensive assessment that can be used to measure each tier individually or evaluate the overall implementation of PBIS (Massar et al., 2019).

Assumptions

There were several assumptions associated with this study based on the perspectives of early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches. I assumed that their responses to the interview questions were open, honest, and truthful. It was assumed that the participants reflected on their own practices and not the experiences of other teachers. It was expected that the teachers participating in this study were interested in the topic and did not have other motives for participating. I assumed my role in education did have a negative impact on the study. These assumptions were essential because this study aimed at exploring the perspectives of early childhood teachers who were PBIS coaches and their experiences with PBIS implementation.

Scope and Delimitations

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within the school. Participants included a minimum of 10 to 12 early childhood teachers who have been PBIS coaches for at least 3 years. I chose a minimum of 3 years because the time frame allowed the PBIS coaches to have knowledge and experience with implementation practices. This study did not include the expertise of other PBIS team members who have knowledge of the PBIS framework but do not operate in the capacity of the school coach. In the current study, I used semi structured interviews to collect data regarding the

challenges that PBIS coaches have while implementing PBIS. Finally, I explored their perspectives about additional support that could assist with implementation and sustainability.

I considered using Roger's (1962) diffusion of innovations theory as the conceptual framework because it focuses on understanding the adoption of changes within social systems (King et al., 2019). According to Dearing and Cox (2018), diffusion is the social process that occurs among people in response to learning about new innovations and new evidence-based approaches for extending or improving health care and technological advancements. It is conceptualized that new ideas and practices are communicated through certain channels over time among members of a social system (Dearing & Cox, 2018; King et al., 2019). I made the decision not to explore this theory because I wanted to focus more on the perspectives of implementation practices for teachers in early childhood education and not the adoptions of new practices within the healthcare and technology field.

Limitations

There were several possible limitations to this basic qualitative study. The first limitation was the number of early childhood teacher participants who serve as PBIS coaches. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the number of teachers who had time for interviews was limited. Using the Walden University research participant pool and PBIS social media groups to solicit participants aided in acquiring qualified participants.

Another limitation was the effect that the COVID-19 pandemic had on student and staff attendance. According to Lyons (n.d.), time is needed for implementation of programs

and practices and the school calendar should reflect 2 to 3 consecutive school years of consistent implementation. The final limitation to this study was researcher bias. As the sole researcher, my own experiences as an early childhood teacher who served as a PBIS coach could have impacted the results of this study. I used a reflective journal to record biases as I completed the study. To prevent participants from being influenced, I did not include early childhood teachers who I was familiar with.

Significance

There is a gap in practice concerning PBIS implementation for early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches. This study may provide stakeholders with knowledge by using the perspectives of the teachers to understand the challenges they face when implementing PBIS. The study findings may be used to improve the use of PBIS for early childhood teachers by improving professional learning opportunities for PBIS coaches and staff. This study may lead to positive social change by assisting stakeholders with strategies to improve implementation and sustainability of the PBIS framework and ultimately improving student behavior.

Summary

In Chapter 1, I provided an introduction highlighting the importance of PBIS and the role of PBIS coaches. I provided the research problem on early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches experience challenges when implementing PBIS. Researchers stated that the implementation of PBIS involves systems and fidelity measures to promote successful adoption and sustainability. The research questions were aimed at teachers' perspectives and what additional support could be provided to them to assist with

implementation. The conceptual framework for this study was based on implementation science. I also addressed the assumptions, scope and delimitations, limitations, and significance. In Chapter 2, I provide a review of the literature and a detailed discussion of implementation science.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In this chapter, I described existing research relevant to my study. The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within the school. The problem is that early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches are challenged when implementing the PBIS framework due to lack of resources such as time and funding (Judkins et al, 2019; Kittleman et al, 2022). Moir (2018) suggested that budgets be created to support funding for PBIS. Teachers have primary roles and responsibilities that prevent them from implementing with fidelity (Scaletta & Hughes, 2021). The implementation of PBIS strategies is vital to improving school climate and reducing student misbehavior (Bradshaw et al., 2021). Charlton et al. (2021) stated that the leading indicator of school improvement and predictors of school outcomes is determined by the school learning environment. Teacher involvement in PBIS implementation and adoption in school settings is essential to creating a positive school climate and encouraging positive student behavior.

Chapter 2 includes a description of search strategies used to conduct this literature review and a discussion of the conceptual framework which guided this study. In the remainder of this review, I explained the importance and impact of implementing PBIS effectively and literature based on the perspectives of teachers who serve as PBIS coaches.

Literature Search Strategy

For this literature review, I used numerous online databases to search for journals and books that provided literature on early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach. I used the Walden Library, ERIC, EBSCO, ProQuest dissertations and theses, SAGE Journals, and general Google searches. The Georgia Department of Education website was also used to provide in-depth information about the roles and responsibilities of PBIS coaches. I searched for peer related journals and within the last 5 years. Key concepts for this for searching relevant literature included: *early childhood teachers' perceptions PBIS*, *PBIS coach, roles and responsibilities of PBIS coaches, teacher perceptions of PBIS*, *PBIS implementation and sustainability, PBIS fidelity tools, teacher burnout*, and *time to implement evidence-based practices*. I searched ProQuest dissertations and theses to find additional sources. A search for literature that focused on the implementation science conceptual framework was also conducted. Some of the literature was outside of 5 years.

Conceptual Framework/Theoretical Foundation

In this study, I explored early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within their school. The conceptual framework for the study is comprised of the implementation science framework.

Implementation science was introduced in the early 1970s as a response to healthcare practice needs (Odom et al., 2019). According to Nielsen et al. (2013), implementation science developed due to the emergence of evidence-based medicine. Nielsen et al. further indicated that early implementation science research has broadened to incorporate

the theological and methodological approaches from social science and the researchers of implementation science strived to improve the framework by importing and using a variety of theories to improve the understanding and explanation of implementation endeavors.

Implementation science and practice are expanding at a swift rate (Lyon, n.d.). Implementation occurs over multiple levels, and it is critical that educational leaders understand that resources such as time and personnel are necessary to guarantee the success of these programs and interventions (Robert, 2020). Odom et al. (2013) revealed a need for implementation science in education. The founders of implementation science questioned the parallel effort in education, which led to the Education Science Reform Act of 2022 (Odom et al., 2019). Odom et al. stated that education leaders argued that teachers and other stakeholders learned more about their curriculum, strategies, and practices through implementation science. After careful review of the implementation of EBPs, healthcare and educational leaders collaborated to form a clear movement in implementation science.

When implementing PBIS, implementation science involves practical steps for adopting, implementing, and sustaining the PBIS framework with accuracy and fidelity measures (Nese et al., 2019). Nese et al. (2019) stated that according to implementation science, implementing EBPs with fidelity is not easy as it is influenced by practice-level and school-level factors. Weist et al. (2019) noted that a strength of PBIS is the foundation in implementation science which involves implementation, monitoring, and continuous refinement and improvement. Teachers are provided effective strategies to

implement through the usage of implementation science (Kittleman et al., 2021). Moir (2018) stated that personal readiness for change depends on how capable and motivated the organization is. Staff selection is a critical element in implementation as these are the individuals that make up the implementation team. Equitable implementation involves the tools and principles of implementation science to make sure programs are effective (Brownson et al., 2021).

Lyon et al. (2018) examined schools as organizations and as a result, identified three core organizational implementation contexts which have an impact on the implementation of EBPS such as PBIS. The identified organizational implementation contexts include strategic implementation leadership, strategic implementation climate, and implementation citizenship behavior. Lyon et al. further argued that strategic implementation leadership encompasses the different behavior demonstrated by leaders which support or hinder the implementation process of EBPs. Therefore, to help PBIS coaches implement the PBIS framework successfully, leaders must be knowledgeable of the framework and help support the staff with the implementation process.

Odom et al. (2013) clarified that implementation begins with a model, the practice, or program to be implemented, and the professionals responsible for developing the curriculum. For PBIS to be implemented with fidelity, implementation must occur in phases. The exploration or adoption stage is where decisions are made with commitment to adopt the program or practice (Horner et al., 2018). At this stage, an implementation team should be created, and procedures and systems should be in place. The implementation team makes sure that meetings and planning occur at multiple levels.

These practice-level factors help promote implementation fidelity of PBIS by providing timely and responsive professional development to maximize the outcome to the students (Harn et al., 2013). Moir (2018) revealed that time restrictions cause implementation risk of failure. Odom et al. (2013) identified the role of professional development, technical assistance, and support in facilitating the implementation of EBPs for students as an important part of the implementation process. Arden et al. (2017) also recommended that implementers place a high level of focus on practice-level strategies including assessment of readiness, coaching, and building capacity.

Fixsen et al. (2015) stated that implementation is a process, not an event.

Implementation can be a long process where there may be repetition and ongoing planning, training, collaboration, and evaluation, as schools transition through all four stages (Fixsen et al., 2015; Lyon, n.d.). Within implementation science, specific activities should occur at each stage. In the exploration and adoption phases, the school has to support implementation by providing guidance, resources, time, coaching, training and technical assistance. PBIS coaches and their leadership should also identify if they possess the knowledge and skills to implement it with fidelity. At Phase 2, installation, PBIS coaches must have the time to meet with the PBIS team monthly to review data and plan accordingly. Within the planning, the coach and PBIS team must make sure that the data systems for collecting student outcomes, program quality, and fidelity of implementation are in place. In Phase 3, initial implementation, intense supports are provided for the students though well-developed systems. The PBIS coach must make sure that all staff and parents are aware of the systems that have been put into place.

Phase 4 is when schools have implemented PBIS fully. In this phase, the PBIS coach is in control of the practices and programs that are adopted throughout the entire school routinely.

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variable

PBIS Definition

Instead of scripted programs, frameworks are implemented in schools to improve academic and social outcomes for all students (Clemons, 2021). According to Horner and Macaya (2018), PBIS is a framework for selecting and implementing EBPs within the MTSS model for behavioral, social, emotional, and academic success. Gage et al. (2020) and von Ravensberg (2020) advocated that a multi-tiered approach known as PBIS gives behavioral support essential to minimize negative behavior and increase academic achievement by using a data driven systematic approach. Data allow educators to examine what approaches are needed to handle student infractions and promote positive student interactions (Hannigan & Hannigan, 2020; McIntosh et al., 2018; Scherer and Ingle, 2020). PBIS can also be compared to Response to Intervention (RTI), where data collection is an ongoing process (Carr & Boat, 2019; Robert, 2020).

According to the Center on PBIS (2018), PBIS is divided into several tiers. At each tier, teachers try to improve student conduct and foster a positive climate. Research shows that positive school climates affect academic achievement (Charlton et al., 2021). According to Gage et al. (2020), all students in the school are included in the first tier of school-wide prevention initiatives, which is the primary role of PBIS. According to Noltemeyer et al. (2019), the first tier of PBIS support is for all students. It is suggested

that 80% of students will be successful receiving universal support in this tier (Center on PBIS, 2018). Weingarten et al. (2020) indicated that students in Tier 1 should engage in research-based core curriculum and behavioral support. The students who need additional assistance, identified by data collection, will need small groups of targeted Tier 2 interventions (Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Van Camp et al., 2021). Approximately 15% of students may fall in Tier 2, whereas approximately 5% of students are allotted for Tier 3 support (Center on PBIS, 2018). Students needing Tier 3 interventions require individual support through functional behavior assessments, individualized counseling sessions, and other intense interventions (Horner and Macaya, 2018; Lloyd et al. (2019; Weingarten et al., 2020).

Understanding School-Wide PBIS

SWPBIS is a three-tiered systems-level approach concentrated on constructing a safe school environment where all stakeholders understand the expectations (Kittleman et al., 2020). The Center on PBIS (2015) emphasized the importance of students and staff participating in the implementation process to implement PBIS across the whole school. Horner and Macaya (2018) stated that building safe and disciplined school environments are equally important as creating academic enriched settings. Horner and Macaya further revealed that schools have heavily relied on punishment and student removal rather than identifying effective strategies to address problematic student behavior. According to Melekoglu and Diken (2022), SWPBIS strategies involve exploring the needs of all stakeholders and examining the social, cultural, and economic constructs of the school environment.

To promote PBIS effectiveness, SWPBIS expectations must be created to help students follow procedures throughout the school (Gage et al., 2020). Gage et al. (2020) suggested that the expectations should be positively stated, clear, and concise and posted on matrices in various locations such as the cafeteria, restroom, hallways, front office, and the classroom. According to Scaletta and Hughes (2022), the PBIS team helps create and define universal expectations and determine how they will look across settings within the school. For classroom matrices, Horner and Macaya (2018) stated that teachers have their own views as to how their classroom should be managed and their views should be respected when creating the universal expectations.

Praise is a social reinforce commonly used by teachers to increase appropriate student behavior (Myers et al., 2020). School staff helps students exhibit positive behaviors by referring to the school wide expectations. Markelz and Ridden (2019) indicated that an evidence-based strategy to promote positive social and academic outcomes is the use of behavior specific praise (BSP). According to Lastrapes (2020), BSP is the most effective form of praise, and when given appropriately, it will reduce negative behaviors. BSP should be given to students immediately for the best results and can be reinforced through token economies (Markelz & Ridden, 2019). Markelz and Ridden revealed that low rates of praise are due to frequent student disruptions and off-task behaviors. To remedy lack of praise given to students, teachers have implemented the use of Apple watches as reminders to give praise to students (Markelz & Ridden, 2019; White et al., 2021).

PBIS in Early Childhood Education

Many early childhood education programs are not equipped with the resources needed to improve the social, emotional, and behavioral needs of children (Hemmeter et al., 2022). Although many schools are not prepared, early childhood education programs can improve children's school readiness and long-term developmental outcomes by using consistent and responsive interactions (Doromal et al., 2022). According to Rucinski et al. (2018), it is important for early childhood teachers to build positive relationships with their students as this will aid in the students' social, emotional, behavioral, and academic development. PBIS is an effective method in early childhood education to address student behavior problems (Carr & Boat, 2019). Carr and Boat (2019) stated that within the framework, there is a consistent plan to address the needs of students throughout the school, and the reinforcement that children receive is essential to their growth and development. Reinforcement is an important step in teaching new behavior and involves the addition and subtraction of elements to the environment (Gist, 2019).

The needs of early childhood students are different from those students in elementary, middle, and high school. Melekoglu and Diken (2022) highlighted that PBIS was initially implemented for high school students and was later utilized by secondary, primary, and early childhood centers as an intervention for problem behavior. Making PBIS developmentally appropriate for everyone is a barrier in early childhood settings (Center on PBIS, 2018). According to Winnekar and Fox (2018), the critical elements of SWPBIS are essential for older students and not a contextual fit for early childhood students without making adjustments to the implementation plan. The Center on PBIS

(2018) revealed that early childhood PBIS systems and the foundational systems that guide the PBIS framework vary; however, the only difference is the early childhood systems focus on younger children and their families.

Early childhood teachers reported that challenging behaviors of students prevent successful inclusive environments (Car & Boat, 2019). According to Chaparro et al. (2022), students with disabilities need assistance from not only their teachers, but also the systems, resources, practices, and school policies. Introduced into federal legislation in 1997 through the Individuals with Disabilities Act, PBIS helps meet the needs of students with disabilities and significant behavioral concerns (Clemons, 2021; Simonsen & Sugai, 2019). Supporting students' social and emotional behavior in early childhood settings helps minimize negative behavior and those behaviors should be consistently observed and addressed as early as possible (Melekoglu & Diken, 2022).

The need for Social and Emotional Learning (SEL) in education is on the rise.

Johnson (2019) stated that there has been a demand to improve the quality of education for young children in school readiness and SEL. The Pyramid Model has distinct tiers that differ from the traditional tiers of PBIS (Center on PBIS, 2018). The model helps promote the behavioral, social, and emotional competencies of children from birth to five years. According to Winnekar and Fox (2020), the Pyramid Model is an evidence-based framework and preschool teachers can use it to teach these competencies and address problematic behaviors. The tiered model involves intensive intervention, targeted social emotional supports, high quality supportive environments, nurturing and responsive relationships, and effective workforce (Center on PBIS, 2018). Without the training and

support needed, early childhood teachers implement the Pyramid Model with fidelity at 40% (Hemmeter et al., 2022). Hemmeter et al. (2022) stressed that teachers need professional development opportunities to improve their knowledge and skillset to work with the social, emotional, and behavioral needs of students.

The Need for Professional Development in PBIS Schools

Numerous factors contribute to positive outcomes following professional development. According to Palmer and Noltemeyer (2019), useful professional development opportunities are needed for teachers to gain knowledge and address issues in schools. Teachers need professional development to build the basic understanding of PBIS, minimize misconceptions, and build shared visions and outcomes (Chaparro et al., 2022; Tyre & Feuerborn, 2021). To help with fidelity measures, all faculty and staff should receive ongoing professional development through the implementation of the PBIS framework (Horner & Macaya, 2018). PBIS coaches work to make sure that there is annual professional development (GADOE, 2023). As Horner and Macaya noted, members of the PBIS team coordinate professional development activities for staff and monitor data and fidelity practices to guide them in the decision-making process.

According to McDaniel et al. (2020), the first tier of PBIS should be implemented by all school staff members and training schedules should be scheduled throughout the year. McDaniel et al.'s view is consistent with that of Horner and Macaya (2018) who stated that PBIS is not a curriculum or intervention that school leaders purchase to adopt in a two-day workshop. Scaletta and Hughes (2021) noted research findings that indicated the need for professional development at the onset of PBIS implementation.

Scaletta and Hughes revealed that the school administrators and PBIS team believed the school staff felt a sense of investment and reacted positively to SWPBIS professional development. Targeted professional development of teachers, therefore, is a key component of a successful PBIS rollout.

The Roles and Responsibilities of the PBIS Coach

Coaching is essential for the successful implementation of PBIS. Knowledge of implementation science and professional training does not guarantee the effective adoption of a practice such as PBIS (Horner and Macaya, 2018). The role of the PBIS coach is constantly evolving and it is important that PBIS coaches understand that there may be additional responsibilities added when needed (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Giordano et al., (2021) defined coaching as the art and practice of inspiring, energizing, and facilitating the performance, learning, and development of the one being coached. Horner and Macaya (2018) revealed that through coaching, teachers receive the skills and knowledge to help them improve student outcomes. During this interactive process, a collaborative relationship is built between the coach and those receiving the coaching (Giordano et al., 2021). In the implementation of PBIS, coaching refers to a set of functions that are needed to provide guidance and support to the PBIS team with implementation and sustainability (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Although there are various definitions and descriptions of coaching in numerous settings, Giordano et al. stated that the ultimate goal of coaching is for the strategies that have been learned to become natural processes for those implementing them.

PBIS coaches are the primary support for the PBIS team in achieving and sustaining the goals of implementation, according to Baker and Ryan (2019). Baker and Ryan noted that although there is typically one coach per school, on occasion a co-coach is needed because of the number of responsibilities assigned to the PBIS coach. According to GADOE (2023) PBIS coaches have an extensive number of roles and responsibilities. GADOE outlined some of the roles and responsibilities including the following: (a) ensuring that the PBIS team meet regularly, (b) assisting with data and evaluations for decision-making purposes, (c) making sure that assessments are conducted (d) attending trainings and meetings, and (e) guiding implementation efforts with fidelity. School PBIS coaches, also referred to as internal coaches, serve as liaisons between the school based PBIS team and district PBIS leadership (Baker & Ryan, 2019; GADOE, 2023). Individuals with PBIS expertise outside of the school building are known as external coaches or the district coordinator (GADOE, 2023). School coaches have similar responsibilities as the external coach, which includes attending meetings, reminding, and reinforcing PBIS throughout the school (Baker & Ryan, 2019).

Teachers serving as PBIS coaches must have these resources available to implement PBIS with fidelity (Horner et al., 2018). Horner et al. (2018) stated that resource leveraging is the process by which the outcomes from initial investment in personnel, materials, and events to achieve the targeted goal result in additional investments toward that goal. According to von Ravensberg (2020), school leaders should expend resources on PBIS coaching and building local coaching capacity. In a study conducted by Pas et al. (2020) highlighted coaching logs as a way to measure the

amount of time spent on coaching activities within the school. The study showed a significant amount of time spent on meetings, training, data analysis, and off-campus activities (see also Lindstrom Johnson et al., 2020).

The PBIS coach not only serves the PBIS team, but the entire system of the school (Baker & Ryan, 2019). According to Scaletta and Hughes (2021), the role of the school coach can be overwhelming, and leaders should work to build capacity of the PBIS team by shifting some of the responsibility from the PBIS coach to everyone. Scaletta and Hughes noted that in their study of administrators processes and practices of PBIS implementation, one administrator advocated shared responsibilities to prevent isolation and workload on one individual. Baker and Ryan (2019) stated that the role of PBIS coach is broad and challenging and therefore ideal for staff with flexible schedules such as a psychologist, counselor, or social worker. Baker and Ryan further noted that the internal PBIS school coach is the responsibility of school building-based personnel who are not teachers with direct teaching responsibility. According to Goodman-Scott et al. (2018) there is a direct correlation between the current roles and responsibilities of school counselors and those of the PBIS coach and that school counselors have the time and expertise to lead PBIS schools in the implementation process.

Barriers to Implementing EBPs

There are numerous barriers to implementing EBPs in schools. Teacher stress plays a significant role in the implementation of EBPs such as PBIS (Larson et al., 2018). Yanek and Goodman (2023) findings revealed elevated concerns on mental health and well-being of students, families, and educators, social and philosophical orientations, and

post pandemic demands have produced stress and challenges for teachers. Testing requirements, RTI, and PBIS have created more responsibilities than in the past (Gist, 2019). Larson et al. (2018) stated that there was a correlation between work overload and the willingness to implement innovative practices. New teachers and those who lack familiarity with interventions are also reluctant to implement EBPs (Nichols et al., 2020). Charlton et al. (2021) that teachers who work in positive school climates with minimal stress have higher self-efficacy and job satisfaction. Herman et al. (2018) revealed in their research that stress and emotional exhaustion yielded low levels of PBIS implementation, quality of teaching, and building relationships with students. Herman et al. stated that it is important for leaders to support teachers by understanding that teacher stress, burnout, and self-efficacy are factors in the implementation of interventions.

The lack of time also creates barriers to implementing EBPs (Foster, 2019; Judkins et al., 2019). Giordano et al. (2021) indicated that early childhood teachers need time to coach and receive coaching throughout the workday. Stakeholders must understand that it is critical for them to invest time and effort in implementing EBPs (Nese et al., 2019). Bastable et al. (2021) revealed in their study on PBIS implementation that teachers prioritized instruction and regular job duties over implementing intervention strategies. The Georgia Department of Education (2022) highlighted in the Teacher Burnout Report that teachers' planning time and instructional time must be valued and there is minimal time to complete the various tasks mandated. Although PBIS is a framework that addresses the social, emotional, and academic needs of the students, Tyre

and Feuerborn (2021) indicated that teachers felt that there were too many initiatives being implemented and not enough time to implement them.

In addition to lack of time, Kittleman et al. (2022) added that lack of funding for school coaches is the core of implementation failure. Pas et al. (2020) revealed in their study the ratio of costs to benefits analysis when evaluating interventions. In their study, Pas et al. indicated that the fidelity of implementation improved as the funds increased. Kittleman et al. (2020) stated that schools are given a finite number of resources for the implementation of EBPs and leaders should be selective when making allocations. According to Lindstrom Johnson et al. (2020), it is important for district leadership to allocate necessary funding to implement PBIS by hiring additional personnel and provide substitutes for team members to attend training. Lindstrom Johnson et al. added that resources should be spent to fund professional development on and off the school campus, secure data systems for effective data management and decision-making, and to purchase curriculum, resources, and other materials or services. Chaparro et al. (2022) agreed that without these resources, it is difficult to implement PBIS and revealed through the results of fidelity assessments. Without allocating funds for schools to use towards PBIS effectiveness, schools face challenges with implementation.

It is important for school leaders to understand the significance of staff buy-in for incorporating new initiatives. PBIS is a long-term commitment with the goal of is to practice with fidelity and sustain the framework (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Filter and Brown (2019) revealed that the implementation of PBIS is a long process and schools should prepare themselves by planning and helping staff understand the commitment that is

involved. It was suggested by Carriere et al. (2020) that schools understand their school climate before deciding to implement PBIS as a strategy to examine buy-in and commitment. According to Scott et al. (2019) low staff buy-in can be a determining factor in successfully implementing EBPs. Schools that do not have buy-in and commitment from staff may incur challenges with PBIS fidelity (Filter & Brown, 2019; Scott et al., 2019). Baker and Ryan (2019) outlined buy-in tasks for PBIS coaches to consider that are critical at the initial implementation stage. It is the responsibility of the PBIS coaches to make sure that the team completes these tasks as well as engage staff in discussions, prompt the team to update, and achieve the items on the action plan (Baker & Ryan, 2019). By understanding staff buy-in, school leaders can provide ways to implement new initiatives in an effective manner.

The Facilitation of PBIS Implementation Fidelity Tools

There are numerous fidelity tools to assist schools with implementing PBIS.

Measuring PBIS fidelity involves the examination of the core features of the PBIS framework, systems of effective implementation, and interventions (Massar et al., 2019). Kittleman et al. (2018) emphasized the need for school PBIS teams to evaluate and assess the fidelity of implementation using various PBIS assessment surveys and tools. Masser et al. (2019) stressed the importance of using fidelity tools that are valid and reliable and outlined various SWPBIS fidelity measurement tools that include the Tiered Fidelity Inventory (TFI), School-wide Evaluation Tool (SET), Team Implementation Checklist (TIC), Self-Assessment Survey (SAS), and the Benchmarks of Quality (BOQ).

The TFI measures the implementation of SWPBIS across all tiers and is most reliable when facilitated by the PBIS coach or district coach (Chaparro et al., 2022; Kittleman et al., 2018). Algozzine et al. (2019); Baker and Ryan (2019) noted that the TFI is divided into three tiers and efficiently measures the extent of which the school staff uses the core features of SWPBIS. The comprehensive assessment can measure each tier individually or collectively (Massar et al., 2018). According to Kittleman et al. (2018), the TFI is conducted by most schools once or twice a year with the first assessment completed at the beginning of the school. The PBIS product book contains artifacts measuring the implementation and fidelity at Tier 1 and keeping the book updated is the responsibility of the PBIS coach (GADOE, 2023). GADOE (2023) outlined each section and the elements of the product book to show the alignment with the TFI.

Another fidelity research tool for schools to measure the fidelity of implementation at Tier 1 is the School-wide Evaluation Tool. According to Noltemeyer et al. (2018), the SET can be utilized by any school, but it is only a required assessment of PBIS schools in the states of Arizona, Minnesota, Missouri, and North Carolina. It is conducted by an external evaluator and measures the core features of SWPBIS and the teaching of the expectations (Pas et al., 2019). Baker and Ryan (2019) stated that the accepted criterion for fidelity in initial implementation is 80% for teaching the expectations, there is a score of 80% needed for overall implementation. The SET is a valid and reliable way of assessing primary prevention practices.

Other assessments such as the Team Implementation Checklist, Self-Assessment Survey, and Benchmarks of Quality provide schools with the information needed to make improvements in PBIS practices. The TIC is a progress monitoring tool that is completed monthly or quarterly by the PBIS coach and team (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Noltemeyer et al. (2018) revealed that Georgia and Arizona offer this tool as an optional measure; however, it can be completed by anyone. To measure the perceptions of staff on the needs of the school, classroom, and individual students, Baker and Ryan highlighted the SAS as an instrumental tool for identifying improvements with implementation. Morris et al. (2022) added that the PBIS coach must be trained in conducting this assessment and that the results guide the team with prioritizing the next steps for fidelity and sustainability. Created by the Florida PBIS initiative to evaluate PBIS implementation, the BOQ is another assessment that is completed by the PBIS coach and team (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Using this measure as a requirement or option for schools, Noltemeyer et al. revealed that the BOQ is a strong, reliable, and valid fidelity assessment. Early childhood programs provide an Early Childhood Benchmarks of Quality Cultural Responsiveness Companion to assist PBIS coaches and teams with the Pyramid Model to improve implementation measures (Wennerstrom et al., 2021). In this companion guide, Wennerstrom et al. provided benchmark items accompanied by directions, elements, adaptations, and resources to aid early childhood teachers with implementing practices for young children and families. Although each of these assessments is similar, they serve a distinct purpose of measure Tier 1 implementation fidelity.

Impact of Successful PBIS Implementation and Sustainability

Successful implementation and sustainability are possible when school leaders acknowledge the importance of the work needed in the four implementation stages (Ward et al., 2021). The PBIS framework, according to Gagnon et al. (2018) has the potential to significantly improve children's behavior and social skills when implemented correctly. Payno-Simmons (2021); Kern et al. (2022) also agreed that the outcomes of implementing PBIS with fidelity promote overall student success. Improved behavioral outcomes have also been seen with students of color when PBIS is implemented with fidelity (Gage et al., 2019). Adopting PBIS as a multi-tiered system of support can be challenging and intimidating for implementers (Sugai & Homer, 2020). Although implementation can be complex, successful implementation is possible when there are resources to support the framework (Nese et al., 2019). According to Johnson (2019) there are a wide variety of systems and programs that aid in scaling up PBIS implementation in early childhood settings. Schools that have regular team meetings, systematically plan, and evaluate implementation efforts increase the effectiveness of successful implementation (Kittleman et al., 2021). Horner and Macaya (2018) added that schools are successful in implementing PBIS when the core features are clearly defined, and action plans explicitly outline a plan for improvement.

The implementation of PBIS in school settings is critical for managing students' behavior and improving their academic performance. Positive outcomes are always linked to proper implementation (Gage et al., 2019). According to Chaparro et al. (2022), implementation drivers are needed to effectively and efficiently implement PBIS and

other EBPs. Chaparro et al. added that these drivers are categorized by competency, organization, and leadership and each category involves specific systems that promote successful implementation. The argument that implementation drivers are needed to implement EBPs effectively was supported by Lancet et al., (2021). According to Lancet et al. (2021), these drivers collectively serve as the elements of infrastructure needed to encourage, advance, and sustain the capacity of teachers and staff in implementing innovations as intended.

The amount of time needed for successful implementation can span over several years. Successful implementation of EBPs is a multiyear process which involves the making decisions, identifying areas of improvement, and the input of stakeholders (Ward et al., 2021). A foundational principle of PBIS that the faculty and staff are responsible for providing the environments and systems of support for the students to promote successful implementation (Herman et al., 2018). Teachers must hold students accountable for teaching and following the expectations outlined by the PBIS team. It is the responsibility of the PBIS coach and the team to make sure that they utilize the data and assess the practices to guarantee the effectiveness of decreasing negative behaviors and promoting positive ones (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Trends show lower office discipline referrals and suspensions with schools that implement PBIS with fidelity (Pas et al., 2019).

Massar et al. (2019) indicated that evaluating the fidelity of implementation of SWPBIS is critical for successful implementation and sustainability. Kittleman et al. (2021) stated that engaging in continuous improvements improves sustainability of EBPs.

Effective and sustainable practices for successful implementation of PBIS involve staff and systematic support (Tyre & Feuerborn, 2021). This support must be ongoing by building local capacity with high fidelity of technical assistance and support (Center on PBIS, 2018). For schools in high need districts, Freeman et al. (2020) stated that there should be a district wide PBIS coaching position as well as two or three coaches in the building. Freeman et al. added that schools should invest in data and communication systems to assist with teacher implementation for school-wide and classroom practices.

Teacher Perspectives of PBIS

Implementing PBIS with fidelity provides students and school personnel with a wealth of benefits (Goodman-Scott et al., 2022). Higher self-efficacy contributes to greater implementation of PBIS (Oakes et al., 2021). Understanding the perspectives of teachers on how they view behavior helps increase the buy-in of implementing behavior management strategies (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Oakes et al. (2021) indicated that challenging work environments, low funding, rigorous learning experiences, and increased accountability for student achievement contribute to students not being successful academically, socially, emotionally, and behaviorally. Some teachers stated that they are overwhelmed by meetings during planning time and the workload is too much to handle, especially when they aren't given breaks throughout the day (Georgia Department of Education, 2022). Similar findings were reported from research conducted by Lee et al. (2023) which focused on teacher stress and wellness and Pressley (2021) regarding teacher workloads pre and post the COVID-19 pandemic. GADOE (2022)

highlighted teachers' perspectives and called for action in their request to remove some of the workload if leaders wanted new initiatives to be implemented with fidelity.

Promoting school safety provides an environment where kids can learn and grow. Teachers believe that feeling safe at school is important and that SEL, teaching quality, school climate, and student engagement and motivation are all factors in student success (Boylan et al., 2018). Tyre and Feuerborn (2021) reported that the misconceptions that staff have regarding PBIS implementation, acknowledgement and reinforcement, personal feelings about behavioral expectations can contribute to how successful PBIS will be in a school. Some teachers have the misconception that students should already know how to behave, conform to their classroom rules, and have consequences for negative behavior (Tyre & Feuerborn, 2021). In contrast, Estrapala et al. (2018) highlighted that teachers valued positive reinforcements for students when they exhibit the right behavior and the frequency for those reinforcements can decline over time. For younger children, Winnekar and Fox (2020) stressed the importance of frequent and immediate reinforcements as a way to encourage students to follow the expectations. Trump et al. (2018) discovered in their research that many schools are discontinuing the practice of adverse punishment and shifting towards teaching and rewarding students for exhibiting the appropriate behavior. In a study of the implementation of Ohio's PBIS Recognition System, stakeholders worked to have a local and state recognition system. Although there were challenges with the implementation, results indicated that teachers felt that recognizing students was important and had numerous benefits (Noltemeyer et al., 2018).

Teachers believed that coaching practices have a direct correlation to the success of PBIS implementation (Kelly et al., 2022). Their perspectives regarding the implementation of PBIS and coaching support can also be explored by examining Feature Item 17 of the SAS (Baker & Ryan, 2029). In the study on the role of coaching on the implementation of individualized behavior supports, Kelly et al. revealed that teachers felt that there should be ongoing coaching support, increased time and resources to coaching opportunities, and continuous feedback to implement effective practices. Yanek and Goodman (2023) agreed that teachers need training, coaching, and time to work collaboratively to implement effectively. Although Tyre and Feuerborn (2021) noted that some teachers believe that some staff will not implement PBIS, Walker et al. (2020) shared in their study that teachers felt classroom and behavior management was a shared responsibility and PBIS was a way to provide behavioral interventions and support for those students.

Summary and Conclusions

The literature review contained evidence of issues that were directly related to factors involving the implementation and sustainability of PBIS. Previous research outlined professional development, time for implementation, building capacity, and providing effective coaching to staff as drivers in successful implementation practices. The review of the literature also outlined numerous roles and responsibilities of the school PBIS coach that may provide insight into factors that affect implementation and fidelity practices. While researching the implementation of PBIS and sustainability, there continues to be issues with time and other resources needed to implement EBPs such as

PBIS with fidelity. Research revealing that the role of the PBIS coach should not be occupied by teachers who have direct teaching responsibilities helps in understanding why early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches struggle with implementing PBIS.

The literature was lacking in the area on early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and teachers' perspectives of PBIS. By discovering new knowledge, this study is designed to explore the perspectives and experiences of early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches. Chapter 3 included a comprehensive description of the research design, methodology, data collection, and data analysis plan for investing their perspectives.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within their school. Early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches guide the school PBIS team with implementation efforts, fidelity practices, assessments, and professional development opportunities. Encouraging early childhood PBIS coaches to share their experiences with implementation may assist in learning more about their challenges, concerns, needs and strategies that they use with implementing PBIS. In Chapter 3, I provide details of the research methodology, which included a description of the research design, rationale, and the role of the researcher. Participant selection, data collection, and data analysis are discussed. I conclude Chapter 3 by discussing trustworthiness and ethical procedures.

Research Design and Rationale

The following research questions guided this basic qualitative study:

- RQ 1: What are early childhood teachers' perspectives of being PBIS coaches?
- RQ 2: What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS?

Qualitative research is a way of understanding phenomena through the perspectives and experiences of the participants in their natural settings (Howson, 2021). A quantitative approach was not considered for this study as the results would attempt to definitively prove or disapprove a hypothesis. Creswell (2023) indicated that in quantitative research, the data collected has to be quantified and statistics must be

calculated to support or refute the hypothesis. Perspectives and experiences cannot be quantified; and therefore, a quantitative approach would not be suitable. Interviews, surveys, and observations are various ways that researchers collect data from the participants (see Burkholder, 2020). I chose to conduct semi-structured interviews to gain a better understanding of teachers' perspectives. Semi-structured interviews provide a flexible way of interviewing key informants who have attitudes, perceptions, and personal experiences relating to the topic (DeJonckheere & Vaughn, 2019).

Other ways of collecting the data were considered prior to selecting semi-interviews. Like interviews, surveys were an option as surveys involve collecting data about the participants' attitudes people, events, and various objects (Burkholder, 2020). Surveys are more formal, whereas semi-structured interviews are more conversational and provide opportunities for participants to discuss topics in further detail. By conducting surveys, I risked limiting the perspectives of the participants.

I also contemplated conducting a focus group to collect the data for this qualitative study. Focus groups provide information about the experiences of the participants as a collective rather than individually (Morgan, 2009). Although it was beneficial to have the participants provide their perspectives in an open setting, some participants may be withdrawn from sharing their perspectives about the topic if majority of the group has expressed opposing or supporting thoughts. There was also risk of losing the natural interactions that may be provided in an individual setting if focus groups were selected. Therefore, a basic qualitative design with semi-structured interviews was selected for my study.

Role of the Researcher

As the sole researcher of this study, I collected, organized, and analyzed the data to explore the perspectives of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches and their experiences with the implementation of PBIS within the school. I have a varied educational background which includes teaching, school counseling, and leadership. I was an early childhood teacher for 16 years and occupied the dual role of a school PBIS coach for 4 of those years. After the emergence of COVID-19, I did not return to the early childhood classroom setting and became a district PBIS coach once the district was granted the U.S. Department of Education School Climate Transformation Initiative grant. The objectives of the grant were designed to enhance and expand the current PBIS framework which would benefit schools and provide supplemental support for the school PBIS coaches with implementation. Currently, I am in the capacity of director of the SCTI and PBIS department.

My background as an early childhood teacher, PBIS coach for the school and district, and assistant director of the PBIS department have contributed to my interest in studying the perspectives of early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches. Being in these capacities have allowed me to gain understanding of ways that various teachers implement PBIS within their schools locally and nationally. They have also allowed me to gain feedback from various stakeholders on ways that they can improve PBIS and provide additional support to teachers.

Researchers must be careful to avoid bias by being aware of prejudices, feelings, and opinions (Burkholder, 2020). The experiences that I have gained throughout my

career and education have the potential to produce bias. I have recognized the needs and concerns of school-based PBIS coaches and the difficulties they experience when implementing PBIS in the school. To minimize bias, I do not have personal or professional relationships with the participants for this research. When soliciting participants through social media, I excluded anyone who was currently working in my district or anyone who I was familiar with. I did not lead the participants by using verbiage that could have produced emotion and influenced them to respond in a way not intended by the questions on the survey. I used reflective journals to record my feelings and thoughts throughout the completion of the study to identify and avoid bias. Use of reflective journals in qualitative research allows researchers to own centrality of the research process and develop the writer's critical thinking and analytical skillset (Jasper, 2005). The process of recording bias in a journal during this study is known as reflexivity.

Methodology

Participant Selection

To gain a better understanding of the early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches, I recruited 10 to 12 participants to conduct semi-structured interviews. Bernard (2019) indicated that the range of 10 to 20 knowledgeable participants is acceptable to gain understanding of their experiences. To qualify as a participant for this basic qualitative study, early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches must have at least 3 years of PBIS coaching experience. Participants who teach in a virtual setting were not

be included in this study as their challenges, concerns, and needs may be different from those implementing the PBIS framework in a brick-and-mortar school setting.

The participants were selected using the Walden University participant pool and teachers' social media groups that focused on PBIS. For both the Walden University participant pool and teachers' social media groups, I solicited participants by posting an invitation on the websites. The participants who desired to take part in the study reached out to me by email. I then sent them the consent form to review to return to me if they agreed to participate in the study. I followed up by email and provided them with a thank you note and a time schedule of interviews. Once I received the consent form from the participants, I reached out to them to schedule interviews.

Instrumentation

Semi-structured interviews were used as the sole data collection instrument for this qualitative study. Semi-structured interviews are typical for novice researchers in qualitative research (Burkholder, 2020). To construct validity, I asked two nonparticipating PBIS coaches who were not early childhood teachers to review the interview questions. The interview questions (see Appendix A) were created using the implementation science conceptual framework, the literature review, and the following research questions:

- RQ 1: What are early childhood teachers' perspectives of being PBIS coaches?
- RQ 2: What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS?

The participants answered 10 open ended interview questions as a way of exploring their perspectives of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches. Interview questions serve as probes to gain more knowledge and understanding from the participant. Interview Questions 1, 3, 5, 7, and 8 align with RQ1. Interview Questions 2, 4, 6, 9, and 10 align with RQ2. The implementation science conceptual framework for this qualitative study provided a guide for the creation of the second research question and Interview Questions 7 through 10. The interview protocol guide (Appendix B) was used to outline details of the study, collect demographic data, ask the interview questions, and gave the participants the opportunity to ask questions or share feedback.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection

The Walden University Participant Pool and teacher social media groups was used to solicit participants for this qualitative study. Planning for data collection is an extensive process in which the researcher collects relevant data in an efficient manner (Newcomer et al., 2015). Newcomer et al. (2015) added that the information must be carefully collected without the consumption of too much data so that it can be assimilated effectively. First, the invitation was posted and those who were interested reached out to me expressing their interest. Participants were then emailed a copy of the consent form outlining specific details about the nature of the study. I created a schedule for the interviews to take place within a range of 3 weeks. There were two opportunities daily to schedule within that time frame. The participants selected a date and time that was flexible for them to complete the interview. Prior to the interview, I sent out another email reminding the participants of their scheduled date and time.

To answer the research questions, semi-structured interviews were conducted to gain information about the experiences of the participants. The data were collected from participants via telephone or Zoom. Before beginning the interview, I recorded the date and time of the interview. I also welcomed the participants and thanked them for agreeing to participate in the study. I reminded the participants of the time allotted for the interview of 45 to 60 minutes. After giving the participants a brief introduction of my background, I provided a brief overview of items from the consent form and reminded them that the interview would be audio recorded and notes would be taken throughout this process. Once the interview began, participants were asked three demographic questions. After the interviews were completed, I thanked the participants again and solicited any questions or feedback. I reminded participants that they would be sent a summary of the findings for participants to comment on and ask questions if they had any.

Data Analysis Plan

Braun and Clark (2006) outlined a six-phase process to assist researchers with analyzing data. Newcomer et al. (2015) indicated that the data analysis plan aids researchers by providing structure throughout the process until the findings were presented. At Phase 1, I became deeply immersed in the data that had been transcribed from the interviews. According to Burkholder et al. (2020), researchers can transcribe interviews by hiring someone, use of software, or transcribing them on their own. To transcribe my interviews, I used Transcribe, an online program which provided a transcription of human speech into text. The interview transcripts were printed and

reviewed in the order that they were scheduled. To make sure that the audio recordings were aligned with the written transcripts, I thoroughly conducted a line by line analysis. I reviewed the transcripts multiple times until I was completely familiarized with it. I also reviewed my reflection notes during this time.

During Phase 2, I began the coding process. Attribute coding, descriptive coding, and pattern coding are three useful methods (Newcomer et al., 2015). The data that were collected were categorized in numerous ways. I used a combination of descriptive coding and pattern coding for this study as both methods allowed large quantities of text to be evaluated to identify topics, issues, themes, and patterns. It was important to code any item that addresses the research questions. Codes should be brief but offer adequate detail to stand alone as they are essential building blocks (Bryne, 2021). Braun and Clarke (2006) stated that the process of coding is flexible, organic, and evolves throughout the analytical process. Open coding was used to break the data into discrete parts. After open coding was completed, I used axial coding to group the open codes into categories.

In Phase 3, the categories were analyzed and sorted into themes. I provided the name and description of each category and evaluate the relationship between the categories and emerging themes. I also explored different levels of themes as overarching and subthemes may exist. Phase 4 involves reviewing the themes for refinement. Byrne (2021) recommended that researchers should carefully consider the number of themes as too many themes can cause incoherence and too few can lack depth. Braun and Clark (2006) outlined six key questions to ask when reviewing themes. I self-reflected and asked key questions to make sure that the themes were accurately identified according to

the supporting data and answered the research questions. For any themes that lacked sufficient data, I removed and refined them.

At Phase 5, defined and labeled the themes. I provided comprehensive analysis by evaluating the themes and subthemes in relation to the research questions. After the themes were confirmed and named, I reviewed them according to the codes and data set. In the last phase, Phase 6, I reviewed the themes to make sure that the research questions were answered. I continued reviewing the data to the point of saturation where no new themes emerged. All discrepant cases were documented and discussed in the results. The phase was completed by producing the report that outlined any changes and the final results.

Trustworthiness

Trustworthiness is the term used in qualitative research to determine how truthful the data, interpretation, and results are in the study. Burkholder et al. (2020) indicated that researchers use the term trustworthiness as a way to measure the confidence in their sources and methods to collect the data. Credibility is one of the most important criteria in qualitative research. According to Cope (2014), credibility refers to the truth of the data, the experiences of the participant, and the interpretation and representation of the experiences by the researcher. A qualitative study is credible if the descriptions of human experience are immediately recognized by individuals that share the same experience. Reflexive journaling was used to establish credibility. Through reflexive journaling, I evaluated my own thinking towards this topic. Lastly, credibility was established in this

study by spending a significant amount of time reviewing the transcripts. I provided a summary of my findings to the participants to review and ask questions if they have any.

Other terms such as transferability, dependability, and confirmability, were used to help researchers establish trustworthiness. Transferability is similar to generalizability in quantitative research (Lincoln & Guba, 2006). Transferability means that the findings of the research are comparable to the findings from another researcher (Nowell et al., 2017). To establish transferability, I provided a careful description of the situation by giving specific details about the setting, population, data collection methods, and time period over which the data were collected. By providing a thick description, readers of the research were able to understand the relativeness and had the opportunity to establish if the findings were transferable to another setting.

Dependability refers to how consistent the data collection instruments, analysis, and reporting are used in the research (Burkholder, 2020). Dependability is similar to reliability in quantitative research and researchers should make sure that they are reliable and consistent throughout the process (Lincoln & Guba, 2006). Kock (1994) indicated that audits establish dependability by keeping records of field notes, transcripts, and reflexive journals. Throughout the study, I established dependability by maintaining a reflexive journal and used the notes taken during the interview for precision in reporting the findings. I used an audit trail to strengthen dependability by including all data sources during the data collection and analysis process.

Confirmability means that there are consistent conclusions drawn from evaluating the same qualitative data (Burkholder, 2020). Lincoln and Guba (2006) added that

confirmability is established when credibility, dependability, and transferability are met.

Reflexivity was a way that I established confirmability by examining my own beliefs and judgments towards the data collected. I kept a reflective journal and record my own personal bias.

Ethical Procedures

There are various ethical issues in qualitative research. Social research should not injure the participants physically, psychologically, or socially (Babbie, 2019). Burkholder (2020) emphasized the importance of safeguarding online participants' privacy during the research process. According to Babbie (2019), qualitative researchers should never use the term anonymous as the term is not synonymous with confidential. Ethicist (2015) explained that there was a difference between privacy and confidentiality; however, procedures should be put into place to uphold the ethical principles of the research. Researchers are responsible for making sure that the information collected is secure and does not pose risks to the participants.

Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) provides guidelines that researchers must follow. An invitation outlining the specifics of the study were placed in the Walden University participant pool and teacher social media groups. Participants were made aware of any risks and benefits and guidelines centered around confidentiality, compensation, participants' rights, and procedures of the interview in the consent form. Participants were assured that they could withdraw from participating from the study for any reason without repercussions.

An identification number was used to protect the identity of the participants. A password-protected drive was used to store the data for at least 5 years. After 5 years, the data collected will be destroyed. This is ethical as noted by Babbie (2019) that once all the data has been collected and no longer needed for the study, it can be removed and destroyed immediately.

Summary

Chapter 3 included the methodology for this basic qualitative study. I described the role of the researcher, selection of the participants, instrumentation, and the detailed process of recruitment, participation, data collection, and data analysis. I also provided strategies to use for trustworthiness and credibility. Ethical procedures were also clearly outlined as I concluded this chapter. In Chapter 4, I provided the results of the study, which includes data collection, analysis, results, and evidence of trustworthiness.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within the school. I used the Walden University Participant Pool and teacher social media groups to obtain participants. To obtain additional participants, I used snowball sampling. After expressing interest, participants were emailed a consent form to review before agreeing to participate in the study. Once the participants reviewed the consent form and agreed to participate, they responded to the email with "I consent." After participants confirmed their participation, they were sent a schedule of available dates and times to interview. Participants were given the option to select two available dates and times for the interview. The option was available for participants to interview via Zoom or telephone. All participants selected to interview using Zoom conferencing. The Zoom audio recording feature was used, and cameras were turned off for participants' confidentiality. Transcribe, an online software that provides audio and video transcriptions, was used to transcribe the participants' responses to the interview questions. After reviewing the transcripts and audio recordings, I made amendments to some of the transcripts where wording was not accurate. Once I completed reviewing each transcript and audio recording for accuracy, I began to identify codes, categories, and themes. In Chapter 4, I describe how the participants were selected, demographic information, and the data collection and analysis process.

Setting

For this basic qualitative study, semi-structured interviews were used to capture the perspectives of 10 K-3 early childhood education teachers who also served as PBIS coaches. The Walden University Participant Pool, teacher social media groups, and snowball sampling were used to recruit participants. All interviews were conducted from my home office. All participants agreed to have their interviews conducted via Zoom rather than by telephone. Each participant was assigned an identification number to ensure confidentiality. The number of years as an early childhood education teacher ranged from 8 to 29 years. Each teacher was randomly given a four-digit identification number. In Table 1, I summarized the participants' years in education, years as an early childhood education teacher, years as a PBIS coach, and gender.

Table 1Research Participants

Research participants	Years in education	Years as an early childhood	Years as a PBIS coach	Gender
		teacher		
P1	18	18	3	Female
P2	10	10	5	Female
P3	20	20	3	Female
P4	25	14	3	Female
P5	16	15	4	Female
P6	13	13	3	Female
P7	17	17	3	Female
P8	13	13	3	Female
P9	29	27	8	Female
P10	8	8	3	Female

Data Collection

Once I received approval from Walden University's IRB, I began the data collection process. The IRB approval number was 06-01-23-1004989. To recruit participants, my study was posted to the Walden University Participant Pool. To obtain additional participants, I posted the invitation on various teacher social media groups. Snowball sampling was used to obtain additional participants for this study. Once someone expressed interest in participating in the study, I sent them a copy of the consent form to review. Participants were asked to respond with "I consent" if they agreed to move forward with in the study. Participants were also sent a copy of the interview schedule to select two available dates and times that would be beneficial for them. The data collection process took a total of 10 weeks to complete. All 10 of the participants agreed to complete the interview via Zoom. The interviews lasted approximately 45 to 60 minutes. To guarantee reliability, each participant was asked the same interview questions and in the same order.

At the beginning of each interview, I welcomed and thanked the participants for participating in the study. I reviewed the duration of time that it would take to conduct the interview and made them aware that I would be taking notes. I stated the purpose of the study and gave a brief introduction of myself. I reviewed the consent form as a reminder that participating in the study would not pose risks to their health, well-being, or position in the school system. I reminded the participants that the information would be used for this study only and that their identity would remain confidential. A reflective journal for each interview was kept documenting my thoughts to manage any potential

bias. Each participant was given the opportunity to withdraw from the interview before audio recording began via Zoom. The camera feature was not used, and participants were asked to change their Zoom name to maintain confidentiality.

Once the interview began, each participant was asked three demographic questions to gain understanding of their number of years in education, number of years as an early childhood teacher, and number of years as a PBIS coach. Next, I proceeded with the 10 interview questions. After the interview was complete, I thanked the participant for sharing his or her experience as an early childhood education teacher who also served as a PBIS coach. I informed the participants that they would receive a summary and any feedback would be appreciated. Before ending the interview, participants had the opportunity to ask any questions. I informed the participants that once the study was complete, I would provide them with a two-page summary of the findings.

Transcribe was used as the software for transcribing the audio recordings. Once each interview was transcribed, I reviewed line by line for accuracy. Amendments were made to those transcripts to ensure accuracy in wording. All audio recordings are stored on a secured password-protected drive. After 5 years, the data that were collected will be destroyed. I followed all the data collection steps outlined in Chapter 3.

Data Analysis

For this basic qualitative study, I explored early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach. Using semi-structured interviews, I asked each participant a total of 10 open-ended questions in the same order. After the interviews were conducted, I uploaded the audio recordings into Transcribe for transcription and reviewed each

transcript for accuracy. During this process, I familiarized myself with the data that were collected from each participant.

Phase 1: Familiarizing Myself With the Data

All participants were given an identification number to maintain their confidentiality. All audio recordings and transcripts were carefully reviewed multiple times to ensure accuracy of the data that were collected from each participant. The transcripts were printed in the order of the interview. I reviewed the notes that were taken during the interview and made additional notes as I continued to immerse myself in the data.

Phase 2: Generating Codes

Open and axial coding were used in the data analysis process. Open coding was used to break the data from the transcripts into discrete parts. An Excel spreadsheet was used to code the transcripts. Column A was headed with the interview questions, and column B was headed with the various codes that were created after analyzing the participants' responses. Columns C through L contained each participants' identification number. The rows contained the interview questions separated by the codes that were created from the responses. To distinguish between the two research questions, a color code was given for RQ1 and RQ2. A total of 64 codes were created during open coding. In Table 2, I provided a sample of some of the codes that were created from the participants' responses.

Table 2Examples of Open Codes

Code	Participant	Excerpt	
Leadership	P1 P2	"I serve on our guiding coalition team, leadership team, and grade level chair." "I am the first grade teacher, PBIS coach, grade level chair, technology committee and school-wide leadership team."	
Knowledge/Experience	P5	"They wanted people with experience, people who understood the concept of PBIS."	
	P10	"I was on our PBIS team for five years."	
Training	P7	"I had an eight-day session with our Regional Education Service Agency (RESA) and it prepared me to coach at my school."	
	P8	"I went through trainings with my district."	
Analyze Data	P1	"I had to go in and analyze data because not only am I the PBIS coach, but I am also the data analyst."	
	P5	"I look at data to help us analyze where we might need to reteach or go back and figure out what's happening with our students and how we can better support them."	
Organize/Monitor	P8	"All over the building I monitor to make sure that everyone is comfortable with PBIS and they know how to utilize PBIS. Make sure they are not struggling."	
	P2	"A big part of PBIS is how you celebrate students; It takes a lot of planning and time which is hard for a classroom teacher.	
Support	P4	"Daily, I have teachers that come to me with questions about how to implement the expectations or understand the lesson plan they've been given."	
	P6	"I make sure that each team member knows their role and they are willing to participate."	
Time	P5	"It's a challenge finding the time to get PBIS done. We are also trying to get our other job responsibilities done as well."	
	Р3	"Trying to make all of the meetings and missing some of my class time because I have to go to a meeting and be away from my students."	
Unmotivated	P4	"I have to make sure that they are buying in and motivated about PBIS."	
	P6	"The teachers were not being rebellious and not buying in."	
Culture	P2	"Part of PBIS is building that community and then rewarding those behaviors we want to see."	
	P6	"The whole idea is to really change the culture of the school."	
Funding	P10	"Our PTA and well as our principal generously donated money to get our PBIS store up and running."	
	P9	"We need a budget to successfully implement it because with our celebrations and school store, it takes a lot."	
Coaching	P7	"Coaching is paramount. It gives me direction and having district support to walk me through implementation is needed."	
	P9	"Coaches should be well trained or implementation is not going to be well within the school."	
Buy-In	P2	"It's hard to get people on board who do not want to change and do something different than we've always done."	
	P3	"Getting everyone in the school to buy-in. Total buy-in from everyone."	
Needed Training	P10	"Everyone should be required to attend a PBIS training on how to implement that within their classrooms."	
	P2	"There should be district PBIS training for everyone to learn how to implement within their classrooms.	

Once I completed open coding, I used axial coding to group the open codes into categories. I reviewed, examined, and organized the open codes to identify the connections and relationships the codes had with each other. Continuing using the Excel spreadsheet that was created in the initial coding process, I revised any codes that needed revision and added additional codes as new ideas emerged. A total of 16 categories evolved during axial coding. In Table 3, I provided a sample of some of the categories and open codes that were created from the participants' responses.

Table 3Examples of Open Codes and Categories

Category	Code	Participant	Excerpt
Numerous Roles and Responsibilities	Leadership Committees	P9	"I serve on the leadership team and the leadership cabinet."
	Analyze Data Organize/Monitor	P8	"I am grade chair team lead and on the school improvement team."
	Support	P10	"I make sure we have our monthly meetings
		P7	the second Tuesday of every month." "I make sure we have our celebrations monthly, do our surveys to monitor what we have to work on.
Training and Experience	Knowledge/Experience PBIS Team District/state training	P3 P6	"I was the PBIS coach at my previous school." "I was a member of the PBIS team for years before I volunteered for the coach."
Lack of Resources	Time Workload Flexibility	P1	"A classroom teacher does not have the flexibility to do all the responsibilities of a coach."
	Funding	P6	"Classroom teachers have a lot on their plate so it was a struggle for me."
Low Staff Buy-In	Unmotivated Buy-in	P2	"Working with negative personalities from those who do not want to change from what they've been doing."
		P1	"You have to have the buy-in. Teachers were not giving students their points."
Positive Climate and Culture	Culture Support staff	P9	"I would say to foster a safe and nurturing environment for all students."
		P10	"To provide a positive learning environment for all students and to reduce the amount of unwanted behaviors."
Provided Resources	Resources Programs	P4	"We have received Second Step curriculum and incentives for students and staff."
	- 1-8-1	P7	"The PBIS Rewards program has been provided for us."
Value of Coaching	Staff buy-in Guidance	Р3	"If the coaches are not properly trained, it's very hard for the PBIS coach to relay this information to the school to have in."
	Leadership	P2	information to the school to buy-in." "Get people excited about the changes and provide feedback to address changes in the future."
Needed Resources	Time Funding	P6	"We are really short staffed at the school so we didn't have anyone to run the store."
	- unumg	P1	"We need to make sure that we have some kind of way to support PBIS financially."
Support with Implementation and	Needed Training Fidelity Practices	Р3	"Workshops are needed for new teachers coming in and refreshers after the breaks."
Fidelity Practices	Additional Coaching	P8	"I know about the tiered process but I'm not knowledgeable enough and there's still more I need to learn."

Phase 3: Searching for Themes

Once I completed axial coding, I examined the categories to identify emerging themes from the entire dataset. The categories were grouped according to similar meanings and characteristics. Four themes were derived from the analysis: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching, (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in, (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support, and (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS. I used thematic analysis as a guide to identify the various patterns and generate the themes according to the research questions. I made sure that the codes were distinctive and nonrelative to the other themes.

Phase 4: Reviewing the Themes

In Phase 4, I reviewed the themes multiple times to make sure that they were of good quality. I performed a deep analysis of the data items. Next, I generated a finalized the list of the themes. I accomplished this by comparing the data with the themes that were formulated to identify any missing information that may have been overlooked in the earlier phases of the analysis.

Phase 5: Defining and Labeling Themes

Once I made a list of the themes and defined them, I made revisions to all of themes. After careful review, all themes needed additional information to support them. I removed some categories that needed to be applied to collapse with other themes. Four

themes emerged from the data analysis process. There were three themes that answered RQ1 and one theme that answered RQ2.

Every participant indicated that training and experience is needed to help with the numerous roles and responsibilities of a PBIS coach. All of the participants expressed that there are numerous challenges, such as lack of time and funding, that prevent them from implementing PBIS. The participants valued their jobs as PBIS coaches and believed that the one of the main goals of implementing PBIS is to provide a positive school climate for students and staff. Lastly, all participants expressed that PBIS cannot be implemented without making adjustments to the resources that they are provided and the various supports that are needed. In Table 4, I provided a sample of the categories and themes that emerged during thematic analysis related to both research questions. RQ1 for this study was What are early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coaches? The themes used to answer this research question were: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching, (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in, and (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support. RQ2 for this study was What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS? The theme used to answer RQ2 was: (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS.

Table 4Categories and Themes

RQ1: What are early childhood teachers' perspectives of being PBIS coaches?			
Categories	Themes		
Having Numerous Roles and	PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the		
Responsibilities	roles and responsibilities of coaching.		
Training and Experience			
Lack of Resources Excess Workload	PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in.		
Low Staff Buy-in	ouy m.		
Positive Culture and Climate Value of Coaching	PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support.		
RQ2: What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS?			
Categories	Themes		
Needed Resources Support with Implementation and Fidelity Practices	PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS.		

Phase 6: Producing the Report

The last phase was to complete a summary analysis of the themes and write the results in the final report. After finalizing the data analysis, I ensured that the themes answered the research questions. I did not find evidence of inconsistent findings in the data; therefore, no additional analysis was needed. The themes provided information on the research questions: RQ1: What are early childhood teachers perspectives of being PBIS coaches? RQ2: What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS?

Results

I explored early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach for this basic qualitative study using semi-structured interviews. In this section, I share the results of the data that was collected from 10 interviews with early childhood teachers who currently serve as PBIS coaches. A total of 10 open-ended questions were asked. The interview questions (see Appendix A) were used to answer the research questions.

Interview questions 1, 3, 5, and 7 were used to answer RQ1 to get a better understanding of their perspectives. Interview questions 2, 4, 6, 9, and 10 were used to answer RQ2.

The first research question focused on the perspectives of early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches. Three themes emerged to answer the first question. The themes were: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support. The second research question focused on items that PBIS coaches need to improve on to improve implementation. One theme emerged from this question. The theme that emerged was: (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS.

Theme 1: PBIS Coaches Must Be Trained and Have Experience to Accomplish the Roles and Responsibilities of Coaching

Having Numerous Roles and Responsibilities

Early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches were participants in this study. When asked about their roles, all the participants revealed that they have multiple roles in addition to being a PBIS coach. P5 stated, "I am the transitional kindergarten teacher at my school. It is where kids were turning five between September 2nd and December 2nd, and they're going to go to kindergarten next year. I am also one of the MTSS leads."

P8 shared, "Right now, I am a second-grade teacher, grade chair team lead, and I serve on the school improvement team."

P5 indicated, "In conjunction with being the PBIS coach, I am also an early childhood intervention teacher and mentor teacher for the new teachers coming in."

PBIS coaches are also considered leaders within the school. Most of the participants shared that they serve on the leadership team or have some type of leadership role. P2 indicated "I am a 1st grade teacher and 1st grade team lead. I do a lot with technology and I'm on the leadership team for the entire school. I wear many hats."

P9 expressed,

I am an early childhood intervention teacher. I serve on the leadership team at the school and on the leadership cabinet. I am also chair of the girls' mentoring program at the school and I am chair of our Relay for Life team.

The participants stressed that as early childhood teachers and PBIS coaches, they had a number of responsibilities and tasks that added to overwhelming workloads. When asked about the daily responsibilities in the role of a PBIS coach, the participants revealed that they are involved in numerous meetings, where analyzing data is a major task. P10 revealed that "I am in charge of our monthly meetings which we have on the second Tuesday of every month where we sit down, and we analyze the behavior data from the previous month to look and see what's going on in our building." P10 continued.

We look at minors, we look at majors, we analyze where the behaviors are occurring the most and what time of day they're occurring. Then from there, we have to look at how we are going to support those teachers and those students who are displaying those behaviors.

Similarly, P5 noted, "I am the facilitator of our PBIS meetings and lead discussions with our staff members regarding PBIS, helping them to look at our data and manage our PBIS systems within our school."

P1 reported,

We have to go SWIS and put in the data. Then we had to analyze the data because not only was I the PBIS coach, but I was also the data analyst on our PBIS committee. So, I had to make sure to go in and look at the data and look at trends in the data. When our committee met, I was able to discuss with them the trends that I see, like what incidents are happening and the time of day they are happening.

All the participants shared other responsibilities that include the monitoring and overseeing of assessments, programs, curriculums, and student celebrations. They also shared that they are responsible for providing staff with the support needed for implementation by providing professional development and being available to answer questions or concerns that they may have. P2 stated, "We kind of pre-meet, talk about what we need to discuss that month, if we had the TFI or the walkthrough, or the survey." P2 continued.

Obviously, a big part of PBIS is how you celebrate students. So that's another thing that takes a lot of planning and time and it's hard for classroom teachers to do because unlike assistant principals and counselors, we don't have that flexibility.

P8 supported,

I'm all over the building monitoring, making sure that everyone is comfortable with PBIS, and they know how to utilize PBIS and not struggling with it. At the beginning of the year, we have our PBIS kickoff. I am responsible with organizing that as well. During the kickoff, we lay everything out on the table and let the teachers and students know what is expected of them and the PBIS process.

P7 added, "In addition to having monthly meetings with the PBIS team, we make sure we have celebrations for our students monthly and we survey the school to see what areas we need to work on."

Training and Experience

PBIS coaches must provide training and knowledge on proper implementation practices for faculty, staff, and students. When PBIS coaches are trained and have the experience needed, they are able to ensure PBIS implementation fidelity and sustainability, build capacity within the school, and improve student outcomes (Center on PBIS, 2018). The participants revealed that it is essential for PBIS coaches to have training and experience. P5 expressed, "Our school started PBIS six or seven years ago. I was a member of the team first and we attended our county trainings where they gave us information on tier one and then tier two and then tier three."

We worked with the county coaches to help with that and then our kind of site-based coaches came out of the initial team. Our site admin assigned those people to be the PBIS coach. So obviously they wanted people with experience, people who understood the concept of PBIS because there was some confusion sometimes around it. That was our initial training. We then worked with district coaches to help train us.

P6 stated.

It should be a requirement that you have experience in the classroom and also have good classroom management. It should be imperative that you have experience dealing with problem behaviors PBIS coaches should attend any trainings that the district requires the coaches to attend. I attended PBIS con which is a national PBIS training.

P4 confirmed.

I was previously on the PBIS team and served in the role of communications before being a PBIS coach for my school. I received some training with the school and district on implementation and students that needed interventions. I also completing a six-week course on implementing positive behavior with students.

Theme 2: PBIS Coaches Are Challenged by Limited Resources, Workload, and Staff Buy-In

Lack of Resources

Lack of resources was a key concern for early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches. The participants vocalized their challenges with implementing PBIS and how the lack of time and lack of funding were major issues. P7 shared, "I think being that I'm a full-time teacher and trying to do PBIS, time is an issue, and you can't create more of it."

P7 continued,

I am trying to fully devote myself to both and it became an issue of time because you have I have a full set of students in my classrooms and sometimes I needed to walk around and do observations to make sure that I was inspecting what I was expecting from staff. So, time would be the biggest issue as a full time teacher and PBIS coach.

P5 expressed, "We teach full-time and so we have to do PBIS coaching after school or during TK PLC meetings because we are challenged with finding time to get PBIS tasks done."

P10 agreed,

There are a lot of challenges. The amount of time as a classroom teacher, you have a million and ten things to do to make sure your classroom is running the right way. There are a lot of PBIS duties that need to be done and you want to make sure you are providing the resources for everyone. As a classroom teacher, I cannot get out of my classroom and go support teachers in other rooms or observe what is happening in real time. So, some things slip through the cracks because nobody really has time and time is of the essence. I wasn't able to do everything because I was stuck in my classroom all day.

In relation to funding, the participants believed that because their school lacked funding, there were threats to implementation. P6 stated, "I am challenged with buying incentives, and I go out on my own to get incentives for students and those who want to participate in celebrating the students."

P10 shared.

We can reward students with free things all day long. Things like wearing pajamas or any kind of free reward. But also, I think that classroom teachers don't understand that students have these behavior points and they're earning all these points, but the points aren't really effective if the students are not being recognized for earning the points. So, a big thing that teachers felt were that they

were not going to spend a bunch of money on a treasure box and hand out toys all time. Also having events cost money. We used to do a quarterly glow party for our kids. I think that from being in a classroom for eight years, students want to be recognized and not by a piece of paper or certificate. So being able to do things costs money and that is something that we really don't have a lot of.

Excess Workload

Early childhood teachers are faced with a heavy workload in addition to being PBIS coaches. Most of the participants shared how their workload conflicted with their coaching responsibilities and those of the staff, which led to PBIS not being implemented with fidelity. P1 shared that because the workload was overwhelming, it was important to have balance by stating,

"Being a classroom teacher and a PBIS coach you have the responsibility of having a classroom of students that you have to make sure that you're meeting their academic needs and making sure you're keeping data on them and how they're growing and progressing."

P1 continued,

You're not just over a program for 25 and 26 students. You have 400 and 500 students in a school who you are tracking. I have to make sure the matrices are right and make sure teachers understand how to report minor and major behaviors. I have to also make sure the expectations and present for all areas around the school. So, I had to learn how to balance being a teacher and a PBIS

coach. So yes, a major challenge is having to manage a classroom and being over the program for an entire school.

P6 shared,

As a classroom teacher and a PBIS coach, I think a challenge for me was delegating some things to the team and trying to do it all myself. Because I had empathy for teachers and I knew that they had a lot to do and I knew what my workload was, it was hard for me to ask another teacher, "Hey, can you do this?".

Knowing that they have a lot on their plate, that was kind of a struggle for me.

P3 agreed, "The challenge is basically doing all the paper for being a PBIS coach and the paperwork for an early childhood classroom intervention teacher. It just gets a little overwhelming."

Low Staff Buy-In

Participants revealed that staff buy-in had a direct correlation to successful PBIS implementation. They shared that their work to get staff to fully buy-in and commit to PBIS was challenging and prevented them from implementing the PBIS framework the way that it should be implemented. P6 admitted that it was difficult to even get the PBIS team to buy-in by stating,

"The first challenge is my team composition. Getting my PBIS to really be invested in what we were doing. I could probably count on 4 or 5 members on my team. The other team members didn't try to come to meetings as much as they could have. They kind of thought it was a hassle. I was just like, well goodness, why are you on the team? Let's get people who want to be here."

P6 continued.

I think it was an issue for me to start with. You know getting all of the staff involved. I keep saying this, the staff buy-in is so important. When it was time to reward students, many teachers were having issues with rewarding from their cell phones, and they did not want to use their iPads. They were being a little bit rebellious about not wanting to learn how to use it properly and efficiently. We had to have some private PLs with some people to teach them how to do it. I still think there are some that are still not seeing it. Although we did see improvement, I think staff buy-in is a big struggle.

P4 agreed,

One of the challenges that I face is buy-in from the teachers and making sure that they said yes, I would love to be a part of PBIS. I have to make sur that they are buying in and are kept motivated about PBIS. The most difficult thing is making sure that when I'm asking them to implement a lesson plan or a new strategy on how to handle behavior, they're going in 100%. I have to make sure I go back and stay on it to help them be consistent.

The negative attitudes towards PBIS affected staff buy-in. P2 shared that teachers were negative when asked to implement,

"It's hard working with different personalities. There are those that do not want to change something that they've been doing and some that don't want to follow the protocol because they're good friends with the principal. They think that they can skip all the steps of the framework and go straight to ISS."

P2 continued.

There will always be someone who doesn't agree with your decisions as a coach. For example, many upper grade teachers did not like how we celebrated PBIS because there was a \$0 budget from the school. We had to rely on donations and volunteers. They were quick to complain but did not consider all the things that go into planning.

P10 expressed,

That the biggest challenge as a classroom teacher and being a coach at the same time is when you hear the word coach, it's kind of looked at as a higher position like an admin or an instructional coach position. When you're a classroom teacher and the PBIS coach at the same time, you don't always get that level of respect because staff see you as a classroom teacher too. They feel as though you should not try to tell them what to do in their classrooms. So, although you are the coach and considered the expert and know how PBIS should be implemented correctly, others feel like you a classroom teacher to and they aren't going to listen to you.

Theme 3: PBIS Coaches Promote Positive School Climate Through Uniform Expectations, Acknowledging Students and Staff, and Providing Staff Support Positive Culture and Climate

School climate is a key indicator of school improvement and critical outcomes, positively impacting students' academic achievement, problem behavior, and social-emotional health, according to various researchers (Charlton et al., 2021). When asked about the objective for schools implementing PBIS and how PBIS coaches assist with the

process, many participants revealed that the goal was to have a positive school culture and climate where the focus is on the whole child. P9 shared, "Our goal is to foster a safe and nurturing environment for all students as well as rewarding students for positive behavior. As a PBIS coach, we want to make sure that it's implemented."

P6 agreed,

The whole idea is to really change the culture of the school. Even at my school, we don't have or we haven't had many behaviors or real strong behavior issues. The idea of celebrating students, really seeing the impact of kids looking forward to coming to shop at the store and just the ones that might not have severe behavior concerns. So, for me as a coach, just changing the culture of the school in a positive way.

Similarly, P7 noted,

For us it is to get everybody on the same accord. To make sure we are all moving in the right direction as far as how we expect the students to behave and what the expectations are at our school. It is to promote overall togetherness.

In relation to students and staff, P1 shared, "The objective is to build relationships between the students and teacher to where good behavior is acknowledged for students."

That behavior will trickle down into the students being successful in their academics."

Some of the participants emphasized improved behavior as a way to improve the school climate. P10 expressed, "We want to provide a positive learning environment for all students and to reduce the amount of unwanted behaviors."

P10 continued,

We want to encourage students to do the right thing and be acknowledged for displaying appropriate behavior. We want to teach the students the right way to behavior in a positive manner as opposed to punishing them for doing something wrong. A lot of kids don't know the right way and when they come to school, we are the only form of communication of what is expected and how to behave. A lot of kids don't get that at home. So just setting the standard for the appropriate way to respond with your emotions and teaching them it's okay if you mess up. We teach it in a positive way and not punish them. It's a teaching method.

P4 shared,

Where I am, we want to increase the positive behavior of students, but also intervene with those that do not display positive behavior. We want to encourage better behavior in all students and help the teachers model that behavior that we would like to see in our students.

Value of Coaching

PBIS coaches, school, and district, are a valuable entity of the PBIS framework. At the core of the framework, PBIS coaches assist with building capacity within the schools by collaborating and facilitating the infrastructure and systems (Center on PBIS, 2018). Coaching serves as a bridge between the research and practice gap and the participants agreed that they are key drivers of the implementation process. P4 shared, "When I think about myself as the PBIS coach, I believe first in the program, and I believe in PBIS. I also believe that it works."

P4 elaborated,

PBIS is not something that you put down and pick up. It is a daily process of thinking about how you are going to implement and keep it implemented. You must be consistent in everything that you do. Without that, you will not be successful. I make sure that the expectations are being taught according to the lesson plans that we have created.

P7 agreed, "Coaching gives me direction. There are times that I have questions and the district coaching is there for support. They walk me through and having them there is paramount."

P10 explained,

PBIS coaches are like experts in the field. When there is a question, they can come to me, and I can help them out. I think it's great to have someone in the building that, you know, if they don't know what to do, they can come to you or someone on the PBIS team. They have resources that is readily available to them to be able to do what they need to do. As a coach, I attend the county meetings and interact with other coaches. I get a chance to see what they're doing at their schools. So, it's great to just have that one person that's able to interact with other people from the county and then come back and share with the others.

Theme 4: PBIS Coaches Need Resources and Necessary Support to Improve PBIS Needed Resources

Schools need robust systems for PBIS implementation, ensuring staff resources are available for effective collaboration and problem-solving for students. Some of these resources include additional time for implementation and funding for various events,

incentives, and materials. All participants shared that they need additional time to implement PBIS. P9 stressed, "I would say more time. More time is needed within my school day and not a lot of time after contract hours."

P9 added,

Since we need more time, I would like to share that if we had school-based PBIS coaches, I feel like that should be their only role and not have another role in the building to successfully implement and make sure it is being done with fidelity.

P3 shared,

PBIS takes a lot of time and I wish we could have a PBIS coach in the school that does PBIS implementation from day to day. PBIS needs more time since I have to split my time teaching and being a PBIS coach."

Several teachers addressed that money is needed to fund the various activities that are being conducted throughout the school. P1 emphasized, "Of course we need finances. We had to find ways to finance things like parties because we were giving kids points to the store and purchase items."

P1 continued,

Finances were one of the things where we had to find money to buy the items and attend the trips that we took them on for their PBIS celebrations or VIP parties.

We also needed money because we have rented bounce houses or water slides and things like that. We have faced obstacles because we had to raise money to ensure that the kids understood that they were earning the points and getting rewarded.

We didn't want to promise the students that they were getting rewards and in the

end, don't do anything with the points that they've earned. We had to be careful how we raised money because there are so many laws on how schools can collect money and funds and where those funds can and can't go.

P9 agreed,

Our school needs money. We need a budget. Or I would say there should be a higher budget to successfully implement PBIS. There are celebrations that we have and then our school store. I mean it takes a lot you know, for that.

P10 supported, "We need more money. Did I say we need more money? We need more money to be able to provide the rewards and recognition for the students."

Support With Implementation and Fidelity Practices

Participants expressed that there is a need for support with implementation. This support involves staff training and the need to improve staff buy-in to improve fidelity practices. P4 indicated, "Our school is in need of support from the district when it comes to proving behavior interventions for students."

P10 asserted,

I think that the entire school needs training on PBIS and not just from myself as the coach. It needs to come from the county. Everyone should be required to attend a PBIS training in how to implement within their classrooms. Yes, I have a wealth of knowledge in my brain from all the things that I've gone to and all the trainings I've been to. But you can only deliver so much in an hour professional development. So, I think the biggest piece is teachers just need more knowledge and training on implementing PBIS.

P8 expressed,

I've done PBIS for 3 years and there is still a lot that I don't know and want to learn, like the tiered process. I know about the tiers, but I want to be knowledgeable enough. In my opinion, there is still a lot that I need to learn so I can see how to place the kids in the process. I know that everyone starts at tier 1 but I need help with knowing when it is severe enough for them to move to tier 2 or tier 3. We also need training on the flowchart. We have it and are constantly making adjustments to it based on the observed behaviors. So, I guess I need more knowledge to help me implement being that I am the PBIS coach.

P3 shared,

We need workshops for the new teachers that are coming in so that they can start fresh right in the beginning and not after the first year because teachers will come in doing something different. So, training is needed for brand new teachers and refreshers are needed for teachers that are coming back.

Some participants addressed the need for support with strategies to improve staff buy-in. P2 shared, "Teachers are not being consistent with implementing PBIS throughout the year. We have a lot of issues with that and we want everyone to participate. We need support with staff buying in the implementation of it." P3 added, "I need support with getting everyone to buy-in. From the principal to the custodial staff, total buy-in from everyone."

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Lincoln and Guba (2006) described trustworthiness as true value of qualitative data and the analysis and interpretation of it. Trustworthiness is a crucial factor in evaluating qualitative research, with transparency being its most significant aspect.

Burkholder et al. (2020) stated that trustworthiness is the degree which researchers can have confidence in their sources including the methods which those sources were gathered, and that trustworthiness can be achieved through credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

Credibility

Credibility is the assurance and believability of the research findings. Credibility was established by creating and utilizing the interview protocol to guide me through the interview process. The interview protocol was used for each individual interview. It contained a pre-interview script where I thanked the participants for participating in the qualitative study and informed the participants of the time that was allocated for completing the interview. I introduced myself, provided the participant with my background, stated the purpose of the qualitative study, and informed the participants that I would not pose risks to their health, well-being, or position in the school system. I assured the participant that the interview will remain confidential. It would not be made public and the data that was collected will be secured and used for this study only. Prior to audio recording, I informed the participants that they had the right to withdraw during any time.

Once recording began, the participants were asked three demographic questions before beginning with the interview questions. During this time, I was able to establish credibility by making sure that the participants were currently early childhood teachers and have been PBIS coaches for at least 3 years. The participants were asked a total of 10 questions which allowed them to share their perspectives of being early childhood teachers who served as PBIS coaches. Once the participants answered all the interview questions, I thanked them again for participating and stopped the audio recording. I kept notes during the interview process and a reflective journal was used to record any biases that occurred. Participants were provided with a two-page summary of the findings along with the opportunity to provide any feedback. None of the participants had questions or provided feedback from the findings of this study.

Transferability

Transferability in research refers to the ability of findings to be applied to different groups or settings, allowing readers to relate the results to their own experiences (Cope, 2014). To support transferability, I provided a detailed description about the participants in the study, setting, and sampling by providing demographic data (see Table 1). Excerpts from the interview protocol outlining the interview procedures also strengthen transferability. The participants have been early childhood education teachers ranging from 8 to 27 years with 3 to 8 years as a PBIS coach. Through this thick description, readers may consider transferring this study's findings to other schools or environments that may be experiencing similar implementation issues.

Dependability

The dependability of the findings refers to the consistency of data under similar conditions. Participants' interviews were conducted via Zoom. To ensure dependability, I followed the interview protocol to guarantee that the interview questions were asked in the same order for each participant. An audit trail was used to keep records of field notes, transcripts, and reflexive journals to make sure the findings were accurately reported. I read the transcripts from the interview multiple times. Through multiple readings of the transcripts, I was able to assess my interpretations, and ensure that they did not change over time. To enhance dependability, I incorporated all data sources during the data collection and analysis process.

Confirmability

Confirmability is the researcher's ability to confirm that the data accurately represents the participants' responses, excluding any biases or viewpoints (Cope, 2014). I used reflexivity to confirm the validity of their findings by examining their own beliefs and judgments towards the collected data. I maintained a reflexive journal and audit trail throughout the process to record my own personal biases. I effectively reported the findings of the study by providing detailed quotes from participants that highlighted each emerging theme.

Summary

In Chapter 4, I reviewed the data analysis process and the shared the findings of the study. This study was formed from three research questions to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach. Semi-structured interviews were used to collect the data from all 10 participants. Braun and Clark (2006) six-phase thematic analysis provided a guide for the data analysis process. Once I completed axial coding, I grouped the categories into themes. A total of four themes emerged from the analysis: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching, (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in, (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support, and (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS. Themes one, two, and three answered RQ1. Theme four answered RQ2. To support my analysis, I included excerpts from all participants.

The first theme was: PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching. Participants discussed the training and experience that they received prior to becoming a PBIS coach and the training and experience needed to perform their duties effectively. Participants shared their diverse roles and responsibilities as teachers, coaches, and members of the school community. Most of the participants shared that they have leadership roles within the school. All of the participants revealed that their multiple responsibilities included: analyzing data, meeting with faculty and staff, providing support for teachers, completing walkthroughs and assessments, and monitoring programs, curriculums, and celebrations.

The second theme was: PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in. Participants revealed that being an early childhood teacher and a PBIS coach was very challenging. All participants shared that there wasn't enough

time to carry out the responsibilities that came along with being a PBIS coach because they were classroom teachers. The participants shared that they were challenged because their schedules did not allow them time to perform the tasks required of a PBIS coach. Most of the participants discussed how there was a lack of funding to have events and provide incentives. Without money, it was difficult to celebrate staff and students. Other challenges included an overwhelming workload due to having the role of classroom teacher and PBIS coach. Lastly, the participants were challenged with lack of staff buyin. Most of the participants shared that they have dealt with negative attitudes towards PBIS and found it challenging to keep the staff motivated to implement the framework.

The third theme was: PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support. The participants believed that the main goal of PBIS coaches was to assist with promoting a positive school culture. They felt that they were valuable entities, and their presence could guide the school towards its goal. The participants shared that they wanted to educate the whole child by improving student behavior as well as improving academics. Majority of participants agreed that consistent expectations for students and staff created uniformity, further fostering a positive atmosphere.

The fourth theme was: PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS. Participants expressed a pressing need for additional time to successfully implement PBIS with fidelity. Two of the participants felt that a full-time PBIS coach at the school level who would focus only PBIS implementation would be most beneficial. Majority of the participants indicated that there was a need for money allocated for PBIS

implementation. The participants believed that a budget for incentives and PBIS celebrations and would enhance their recognition of their staff and students. To assist with PBIS implementation, the participants felt that additional supports were needed. These supports should include additional staff training and strategies that would help improve staff buy-in.

Chapter 4 included the study's trustworthiness by addressing credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. The data was thoroughly analyzed and interpreted to prevent any potential biases. Reflective journals and audit trails for field notes were used throughout the process of data collection and analysis. There was no evidence to contradict the findings and therefore, no additional analysis was needed.

In Chapter 5, I interpret the study's findings, outlining its limitations, recommendations, and implications. An analysis of each theme's results is provided, highlighting their alignment with the research questions and literature review in Chapter 2. I conclude Chapter 5 with opportunities for social change and a reflection of this study.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementation within the school. The data for this study were collected using semi-structured interviews via Zoom and telephone. All 10 participants were early childhood teachers serving in the capacity of PBIS coaches for at least 3 years. The themes that emerged from this data analysis were the following: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching, (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in, (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support, and (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS.

In this chapter, I explain the findings of the study and provide an understanding of early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach. The research findings are compared with the current literature and the conceptual framework of implementation science.

The implementation science framework's is based on the theory of personal readiness for change, encompassing the capability, opportunity, and motivation to change behavior (Moir, 2018). Baker and Ryan (2019) highlighted implementation science as the best framework to outline the processes of adopting and implementing evidence-based practices.

Interpretation of the Findings

Once approval from Walden University's IRB was received, I began the data collection process. The following research questions were used for this basic qualitative study:

RQ 1: What are early childhood teachers' perspectives of being PBIS coaches?

RQ 2: What do early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches need to improve the implementation of PBIS?

I used Walden University's Participant Pool and snowball sampling strategies to collect data from 10 participants using semi-structured interviews. The participants were asked 10 questions about their perspectives of being PBIS coaches and their needs to improve PBIS implementation. The data analysis was conducted using Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-phase framework. Four themes emerged from the data analysis: (a) PBIS coaches must be trained and have experience to accomplish the roles and responsibilities of coaching, (b) PBIS coaches are challenged by limited resources, workload, and staff buy-in, (c) PBIS coaches promote positive school climate through uniform expectations, acknowledging students and staff, and providing staff support, and (d) PBIS coaches need resources and necessary support to improve PBIS. The themes were directly connected to the framework of implementation science. The conceptual framework of implementation science centers around the successful adoption, implementation, and sustainability of EBPs.

Theme 1: PBIS Coaches Must Be Trained and Have Experience to Accomplish the Roles and Responsibilities of Coaching

Proper training is necessary for the effectiveness of PBIS implementation (Horner & Macaya, 2018; Palmer & Noltemeyer, 2019; Scaletta & Hughes, 2021). According to Baker and Ryan (2019), full implementation can take 3 to 5 years; however, the stages of implementation specifically indicate what each school should be achieving at that time. School leaders must recognize the necessary tasks to be completed at each stage (Ward et al., 2021). PBIS coaches assist with guiding staff towards proper implementation of PBIS practices. For PBIS coaches to be successful with leading schools in PBIS, they must have significant training and experience. Participants agreed with the findings and shared that they had received training at the local, state, and national level.

P4 expressed,

I have received classroom training with my district and social-emotional learning training with the state. Also, different partners have come in and provided me with training on restorative practices. As the coach at my school, I am responsible for sharing that information to our staff in school trainings. When we have our team meetings, I communicate some of that information with our stakeholders and parents.

Hemmeter et al. (2022) noted that training must occur to provide learning opportunities to increase knowledge at all tiers for assisting students with social, emotional, and the behavioral needs of the students. Training should include knowledge

of the MTSS as students need Tier 1, 2, and 3 supports (Center on PBIS, 2018; Weingarten et al., 2020).

P1 added,

During COVID-19, I attended Zoom sessions with the state to talk about the implementation of PBIS and focus more on tier 2 and tier 3 of MTSS. I had to learn about where the students were in tier 2 and tier 3 and take care of their concerns of the high-risk students.

Previous experience on the PBIS team was also helpful for PBIS coaches to assist with implementation. Baker and Ryan (2019) outlined some of the various responsibilities of team members and indicated that their roles impact successful implementation as well. Baker and Ryan added that PBIS team members have responsibilities of reflecting and modeling the vision of PBIS, outlining needed professional development of staff, assessing the data to measure implementation progress, and presenting data to the staff and community. Most of the coaches indicated that they had served on the PBIS team prior to becoming the school PBIS coach. P8 shared, "Because I had been on the PBIS team, I was appointed by my principal to help after the previous coach left. My principal felt that I was a good fit to help with PBIS implementation."

The failure of PBIS implementation can be prevented by providing adequate training to those responsible for its execution. Lyon et al. (2018) advocated for training and coaching support prior to the implementation phase. Lyon et al. suggested that interactive and post training supports be provided at the exploration phase so that staff

learn without it being a requirement. P7 revealed, "I did not have experience as a PBIS coach or team member before I was selected. I did receive eight sessions of training from RESA to be the coach at my school, but I have to have deeper understanding."

The implementation of PBIS consists of core features that help identify how schools are improving (Kittleman et al., 2019; Masser et al., 2019). PBIS fidelity tools and assessments are required and PBIS coaches must be trained and prepared to facilitate. Participants acknowledged the necessity of facilitating these duties and emphasized their responsibility for ensuring fidelity in the completion of these assessments. P2 shared, "With me being the coach, I have to administer the SAS and TFI to get feedback from the PBIS team and everyone in the school." The findings support the research that early childhood teachers should be trained to effectively perform their roles and responsibilities as PBIS coaches.

Theme 2: PBIS Coaches Are Challenged by Limited Resources, Workload, and Staff Buy-In

PBIS coaches have numerous roles and responsibilities (GADOE, 2023; Scaletta & Hughes, 2021). The PBIS team should work collaboratively and cohesively to carry out implementation efforts (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Horner et al. (2018) indicated that the exploration stage of implementation science should be where schools assess the resources for PBIS implementation. Time constraints significantly hinder the effective coaching of PBIS coaches (Foster, 2019; Giordano et al., 2021; Judkins et al., 2019). Participants agreed with the findings and expressed that they are responsible for most implementation duties but faced challenges in executing them within the allotted time.

P9 stated.

I would say the biggest challenge would be the time because when you have another responsibility, like being a full-time teacher, teaching my students and me serving my students come first. So just having enough time to be in the role to serve as the PBIS coach would be time management.

Classroom teachers' main role is to provide daily instruction for their students. Scaletta & Hughes (2021) revealed that teachers' primary roles and responsibilities hinder their ability to implement PBIS with fidelity. Baker and Ryan (2019) supported that it is not ideal for classroom teachers to serves as PBIS coaches because of their numerous roles and responsibilities, and that the position of PBIS coach should be for someone who has a more flexible schedule.

P2 shared,

I have been to numerous trainings and most of the PBIS coaches are administrators or counselors with more flexibility. I was the only classroom teacher, and it is hard making sure that I am teaching and performing the duties of a PBIS coach.

Funding was also identified as a challenge when implementing PBIS. The absence of funding for school coaches is a significant obstacle to the successful implementation of PBIS (Baker & Ryan, 2019; Chaparro et al., 2022; Kittleman et al., 2022). Administrators must ensure the successful implementation and maintenance of PBIS by dedicating themselves to ensuring the availability of those financial resources (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Implementation science should be integrated into school design and evaluation to

ensure effectiveness and sustainability, with funding being a necessary investment to support implementation (Moir, 2018). Participants acknowledged the necessity of funding not only during the initial stages of implementation, but also for sustainability. P9 expressed,

It is challenging when we don't have the money to acknowledge our students.

Teachers were upset that we were selling snacks at our PBIS parties because in the past, we've gotten them donated or people volunteered to bring them. At the same time, we had to do that because we didn't have the money to have better parties.

Teacher workload has become overbearing, and many teachers find it impossible to tackle during the normal hours of the school day (GADOE, 2023). According to Larson et al. (2018), staff are reluctant to implement practices such as PBIS because of work overload. Moir (2018) revealed that individual's workloads should be taken into consideration to prevent loss of implementation fidelity due to competing job pressures. This is consistent with the findings from this study. Participants shared their frustrations with the overwhelming workload and agreed with the research surrounding the amount of tasks that teachers have to complete within the school day. P7 shared, "I have so much to do and it is hard to devote myself to teaching and being the PBIS coach. I have a classroom full of students and there is so much that I need to do."

The implementation of PBIS occurs over multiple levels and it is important to get system-wide buy-in (Lyon, n.d.). Administrators are leading supporters of staff buy-in.

Baker and Ryan (2019) stated that administrators inspire staff buy-in and achievement

and as leaders, they should set the tone for adopting the initiative. Participants agreed that they were presented with numerous challenges as it related to staff buy-in. The staff chose not to buy in for multiple reasons and expressed how hard it was to get buy-in from teachers.

P5 added,

For us a school, the staff must be on board with the same ideas. I felt there was no buy-in because there are a lot of misconceptions about PBIS with our own staff. It is frustrating because PBIS is so valuable and making those connections with the students and treating them with respect is valuable. We can't expect respect back unless we give it first. I feel like that's all PBIS is about.

The low implementation of PBIS is attributed to a combination of factors including lack of resources, excessive workload, and low staff buy-in. Schools that lack the resources and tools to implement often abandon PBIS (Nese et al., 2019). Participants acknowledged the numerous challenges they faced due to the lack of resources and supports, believing it is impossible to implement PBIS with fidelity.

Theme 3: PBIS Coaches Promote Positive School Climate Through Uniform Expectations, Acknowledging Students and Staff, and Providing Staff Support

A crucial factor when considering readiness for PBIS implementation is considering the culture of the school in the exploration stage. Determining the learning outcomes and improvement to the school climate are key factors for school leaders to consider. Bradshaw et al. (2021) advocated for PBIS strategies as a way to improve the school climate and reduce problematic behaviors. The PBIS coach is appointed to gather

school data and guide the school towards creating a positive school environment before adoption (Baker & Ryan, 2019). The analysis of data was praised for its potential to identify effective strategies for addressing student infractions and fostering positive interactions (Hannigan & Hannigan, 2020; McIntosh et al., 2018; Scherer & Ingle, 2020). The participants expressed similar outcomes. When asked about the objectives for schools using PBIS and how coaches assist with the process, participants revealed that the students respond well to positive interactions, and they saw an increase in positive behaviors.

Participants agreed that promoting that positive school climate is a major responsibility that they have. P2 stated, "I want to promote people to do PBIS. It gives you a great leadership role and the chance to connect with other people in the school. I want to dismiss the negative connotation that comes with PBIS." The perception of PBIS is influenced by numerous myths that need to be dispelled. Findings supported the research of Tyre and Feuerborn (2021) regarding the misconceptions that staff have towards PBIS.

P6 agreed,

Adults in the building have said to me that they don't want to award students points for doing what they are supposed to do. I shared that it wasn't like it was when we were kids. There is the misconception that the students shouldn't be rewarded but they can get bonuses for doing what they are supposed to do. Most of the teachers received that reward. Once students started getting those tangible

rewards, many of the minor behaviors went away and the behavior improved so much.

The conceptual framework of implementation science promotes sustainable practices through structure. Researchers have studied the impact of school climate, including social norms, goals, values, interpersonal relationships, teaching practices, and organizational structures, on wellbeing and positive outcomes among educators and students (Lyon et al., 2019). Promising results for a positive culture and improved behavior are evident when schools shift to a unified approach (Horner et al., 2019). Findings support Gage et al.'s (2020) statement that uniform expectations aid students in adhering to procedures and fostering a positive environment. Participants agreed that everyone is on the same page when there are universal expectations. P8 shared, "Every teacher is expected to implement the same PBIS expectations with fidelity. We monitor our students' progress and discuss the data weekly. We focus on improving the behavior to have a positive environment." P3 stated, "It feels good seeing teachers not yelling at students when they are implementing the framework."

A positive implementation climate indicates expectations, support, and rewards for the use of programs or practices (Lyon et al., 2018). Carr and Boat (2019) emphasized the importance of a consistent plan and reinforcements for students' growth and development. The results support the need for acknowledging students on a regular basis. Participants agreed with the research and stressed the importance of consistent student and staff acknowledgments to promote successful implementation of PBIS.

P8 agreed,

Being a coach and seeing students doing good or me catching them being good is awesome. Students love to hear their names over the intercom when they pick up piece of paper or follow the expectations. Sometimes we see the other students start looking for paper to pick up so that they can hear their name over the intercom as well.

P4 expressed,

a

I love PBIS Rewards app because you can reward students and staff. The teachers always praise the app. I love it because it's simple to use and it tracks how the students are behaving and following the expectations. It makes everyone feel good when they are being acknowledged school-wide.

Implementation science is paramount because it emphasizes the need for support for those implementing EBPs. A school climate that is safe and supportive is a key factor for school effectiveness (Charlton et al., 2021). The findings show that support is needed, and many participants revealed how support promotes the positive culture. Participants believe that their role as PBIS coaches is valuable and that they strive to guide schools with creating a positive and supportive climate for students and staff.

Theme 4: PBIS Coaches Need Resources and Necessary Support to Improve PBIS

Leaders and teachers should prioritize investing the necessary time into an initiative over poorly implementing it (Moir, 2018; Nese et al., 2019). When asked about the resources needed to improve PBIS, participants shared that they need additional time or additional staffing to take on the role of PBIS coach. P10 stated, "I put in a lot of extra

hours of my personal time. I believe that PBIS slips through the cracks because we need more time. I mean it's feasible but not going to be implemented 100%."

P6 agreed,

I need more time or maybe someone else to help with running the store. We had an issue when we were short staffed at the school and nobody was available to run the store. So I didn't get to run it the way I imagined I would. If we had somebody there to run the store, I think it would be more beneficial.

Implementation science suggests that school and practice level factors, including resources, determine whether schools will adopt or abandon PBIS implementation.

Lindstrom Johnson et al. (2020) stressed that school and district leaders must understand the funding requirements of PBIS implementation and make efforts to support funding for training and reinforcement programs. It is critical for the PBIS team to have a plan for ongoing funding (Baker & Ryan, 2019). Horner et al. (2019) revealed that implementing PBIS can be costly, averaging about \$5,000 per school. Findings are supportive of Moir's (2018) research indicating that funds need to be invested to cover the costs. Participants supported the research by sharing that money was needed to support implementation efforts, including celebrations and incentives. P7 explained, "We are out of creative ideas for free incentives because we need more money for rewarding our students."

As mentioned by Odom et al. (2013) professional development and other supports are needed for effective implementation and fidelity practices. These implementation and fidelity practices include building an understanding of PBIS, minimizing misconceptions, and creating a shared vision (Chaparro et al., 2022; Tyre & Feuerborn, 2021).

Professional development opportunities equip staff with the necessary skills to tackle school-related issues. (Palmer & Noltemeyer, 2019). P2 expressed, "Every year when we come back from summer break, we get started with tasks other than professional development for PBIS. We need specific training to help everyone understand the flowchart and how to provide effective consequences for students' behavior." The results from the research indicate that staff require professional development in the foundations of PBIS and its implementation practices.

Other support to improve PBIS implementation should be provided to staff. All participants referenced the need for ways to improve implementation and fidelity practices. P5 shared, "I really enjoy being the PBIS coach but it's hard to get staff on board. I think we need ways to combat that. Sometimes our district helps with ideas but it's hard." Findings back Carriere et al. (2020) research by indicating that strategies are needed to support with staff buy-in. Filter and Brown (2019) highlighted the importance of thorough planning and staff support as strategies for effective implementation. It is important for school leaders to assist staff with understanding that PBIS is a commitment that takes everyone working together to be successful.

Limitations of the Study

There were several limitations for this study. The first limitation was the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the number of teachers who had time for interviews.

Many teachers were unable to provide interviews due to low attendance and availability. I overcame this limitation by using the Walden University research participant pool and PBIS social media groups to solicit participants to acquire qualified participants.

The second limitation was the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on student and staff attendance. The school calendar should reflect 2-3 consecutive years of consistent implementation of programs and practices (Lyons, n.d.). The COVID-19 pandemic has limited the ability to gain a true perspective of implementation practices from early childhood teachers serving as PBIS coaches.

The third limitation was researcher bias. As an early childhood teacher, PBIS coach, and assistant director of school climate, I have extensive experience in leading implementation within my school. During the data collection and analysis process, I used a reflective journal to document my thoughts. The study's objectives were not hindered by my personal thoughts and perspectives.

Recommendations

Results from this study could potentially contribute to further research on early childhood teachers' perspectives on their roles as PBIS coaches. The first recommendation for future research should be to focus on providing comprehensive professional development training to PBIS coaches and staff on rigorous implementation practices. PBIS coaches require comprehensive coaching and training to facilitate needed professional development for staff. PBIS coaches should attend district, state, and national training to acquire the knowledge needed for implementation. School leaders should require PBIS training for all staff at the start of the year and booster training throughout the year. Opportunities should be made available for those who joined after the start of the year and missed the initial training.

The second recommendation is to examine the workload of early childhood teachers serving as PBIS coaches prior to assigning them the role. Although administrators are the leaders of the school, they may not have a full scope of the responsibilities of PBIS coaches and PBIS implementation. The primary responsibility of classroom teachers is to provide instruction for their students; however, other duties include monitoring and evaluating student progress, maintaining a safe environment, and planning the implementation for curriculum programs. Classroom teachers' workload is increasing due to local, state, and federal mandates. Assessing the responsibilities of the classroom teacher should be heavily considered if schools desire to implement PBIS with fidelity.

The third recommendation would be to allocate time and funding for implementing PBIS. To be effective, there must be time designated for implementation. Time should be set aside for PBIS team meetings, walkthroughs, assessments, planning, and providing acknowledgements. Time should be allocated for classroom teachers to offer additional support to other teachers and staff who require additional assistance with fidelity practices. School leaders must also identify sources for a school budget. Increasing funding is necessary to provide training, materials, incentives, and other acknowledgements for students and staff.

The final recommendation would be to explore ways to improve staff buy-in with improving PBIS implementation practices. Staff buy-in starts with leadership (Baker & Ryan, 2019). The PBIS team is designed to have an administrator capable of making crucial decisions and devising strategies to enhance the implementation of PBIS.

Administrators can aim for successful implementation and teacher buy-in by acknowledging their efforts and providing necessary resources such as time and funding. Administrators can also offer continuous support throughout the year through ongoing training. There should be consistent collaboration amongst the PBIS coach, administrators, and the PBIS team to assess staff buy-in and identify strategies to improve implementation.

Implications

This study may contribute to positive social change by revealing to various stakeholders the challenges that early childhood teachers who are PBIS coaches face with the implementation of PBIS. By exploring their perspectives, stakeholders may work to improve the time and funding issues faced by PBIS coaches. Stakeholders may also see the importance of professional development and training for staff to improve implementation practices. The findings could provide insights for enhancing implementation, promoting sustainability of the PBIS framework, and reducing problematic behavior. This study's findings could assist school administrators in their leadership roles by identifying strategies to enhance staff support.

The study's findings indicated that the participants expressed that their responsibilities as an early childhood classroom teacher and PBIS coach were overwhelming and difficult to perform. The workload, lack of resources such as time and funding, and low staff buy-in were all barriers of successful implementation. The participants stressed the need for more time, funds, and professional development to improve staff buy-in and support students and staff in their schools.

Conclusion

The purpose of this basic qualitative study is to explore early childhood teachers' perspectives of being a PBIS coach. The study's findings revealed a gap in current practice. Research exists on PBIS implementation but there is limited research available on early childhood teachers who serve as PBIS coaches and their experiences with implementation. The results revealed obstacles early childhood teachers encounter as PBIS coaches with implementation and the areas they need improvement in to enhance their effectiveness. Teachers expressed that the daily responsibilities of being a classroom teacher and PBIS coach were overwhelming. They expressed that the PBIS framework's implementation was hindered by a lack of time, funds, and support.

Stakeholders must recognize the value of PBIS coaches and their commitment to fidelity, but resources like time and funding are crucial for successful implementation. The information from this study may help school leaders understand the challenges that PBIS coaches face with PBIS implementation. Educators might use the findings to promote positive social change by enhancing the implementation and fidelity practices ultimately transforming the school climate. Early childhood teachers, serving as PBIS coaches, may use the findings to assist them in guiding the implementation of a framework to enhance the school's culture. We must continue to inform educators of teachers' perspectives to make improvements for teachers, PBIS coaches, and ultimately students.

References

- Algozzine, B., Barrett, S., Eber, L., George, H., Horner, R., Lewis, T., Putnam, B., Swain-Bradway, J., McIntosh, K., & Sugai, G (2019). School-wide PBIS tiered fidelity inventory. OSEP Technical Assistance Center on Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. www.pbis.org.
- Annink, A. (2017). Using the research journal during qualitative data collection in a cross-cultural context. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2015-0063
- Arden, S. V., Gandhi, A. G., Zumeta Edmonds, R., & Danielson, L. (2017). Toward more effective tiered systems: Lessons from national implementation efforts. *Exceptional Children*, 83(3), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402917693565
- Babbie, E. R. (2019). The basics of social research. Cengage Learning.
- Baker, B., & Ryan, C. A. (2019). *The PBIS team handbook: Setting expectations and building positive behavior*. Free Spirit Publishing Inc.
- Bastable, E., Falcon, S. F., McDaniel, S. C., McIntosh, K., & Santiago-Rosario, M. R. (2021). Understanding educators' implementation of an equity-focused PBIS intervention: A qualitative study of critical incidents. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 23(4), 220–231. https://doi.org/10.1177/10983007211008847
- Bastable, E., Massar, M. M., & McIntosh, K. (2020). A survey of team members' perceptions of coaching activities related to tier 1 SWPBIS implementation.

 **Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 22(1), 51–61.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300719861566

- Bauer, M. S., & Kirchner, J. A. (2020). Implementation science: What is it and why should I care? *Psychiatry Research*, 283, 112376. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2019.04.025
- Bernard, H. R. (2018). Research methods in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Bethune, K. S. (2017). Effects of coaching on teachers' implementation of tier 1 school-wide positive behavioral interventions and support strategies. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 19(3), 131–142.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300716680095
- Bhatnagar, R., & Many, J. (2022). Teachers using social emotional learning: Meeting student needs during COVID-19. *International Journal of Technology in Education (IJTE)*, 5(3), 518–534. https://doi.org/10.46328/ijte.310
- Bradshaw, C. P., Cohen, J., Espelage, D. L., & Nation, M. (2021). Addressing school safety through comprehensive school climate approaches. *School Psychology**Review, 50(2–3), 221–236. https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966x.2021.1926321
- Bradshaw, C. P., Pas, E. T., Debnam, K. J., & Johnson, S. L. (2021). A randomized controlled trial of MTSS-B in high schools: Improving classroom management to prevent ebds. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(1), 44–59.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932520966727
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Boylan, F., Barblett, L., & Knaus, M. (2018). Early childhood teachers' perspectives of growth mindset: Developing agency in children. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, 43(3), 16–24. https://doi.org/10.23965/AJEC.43.3.02
- Bradshaw, C. P., Goodman, S., & Johnson, S. L. (2021). Leveraging findings on the cost of positive behavioral interventions and supports to inform decision making by leaders in special education programming. *Journal of Special Education Leadership*, 34(1), 47-56.
- Brownson, R. C., Kumanyika, S. K., Kreuter, M. W., & Haire-Joshu, D. (2021).

 Implementation science should give higher priority to health equity.

 Implementation Science, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-021-01097-0
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., Crawford, L. M., Hitchcock, J. H., & Patton, M. Q. (2020).

 *Research design and methods: An applied guide for the scholar-practitioner.

 SAGE.
- Byrne, D. (2021). A worked example of Braun and Clarke's approach to reflexive thematic analysis. *Quality & Quantity*, 56(3), 1391–1412. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-021-01182-y
- Carr, V., & Boat, M. (2019). "You say praise, I say encouragement" negotiating positive behavior support in a constructivist preschool. *Athens Journal of Education*, 6(3), 171–188. https://doi.org/10.30958/aje.6-3-1
- Carriere, K., Krezmien, M., & Gonzales, A. (2020). Using a systematic evaluation to establish need and buy-in prior to adoption of a SWPBIS model. *Exceptionality*, 28(3), 222–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2020.1849615

- Carroll, C., Patterson, M., Wood, S., Booth A., Balain J., & Balain, S. (2007). A conceptual framework for implementation fidelity. *Implementation Science*, 2(40), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-2-40.
- Center on PBIS (2020). References for the evidence base of PBIS. University of Oregon. www.pbis.org.
- Center on Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. (2018). "Schools that are implementing SWPBIS." www.pbis.org.
- Center on Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. (2015). Positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS) implementation blueprint. University of Oregon. www.pbis.org.
- Chaparro, E. A., Kittelman, A., McDaniel, S. C., Peshak George, H., VanLone, J., & So, S. L. (2022). Examining rural school implementation of positive behavioral supports across tiers. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 41(3), 116–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/87568705221097114
- Charlton, C. T., Moulton, S., Sabey, C. V., & West, R. (2021). A systematic review of the effects of schoolwide intervention programs on student and teacher perceptions of school climate. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 23(3), 185–200. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300720940168
- Clayton, J., Robertson, D., & Sotomayor, T. (2020). Opportunities and access: Exploring how school district leaders make meaning of equity in practice through positive behavioral interventions and supports. *International Journal of Education Policy and Leadership*, 16(4). https://doi.org/10.22230/ijepl.2020v16n4a878

- Clemens, K., Borowski, L., Donovan, M., Meyer, K., Dooley, K., & Simonsen, B. (2021). Proactively pivot: Guidance on adapting the PBIS Framework in response to crises to support students with disabilities. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 55(1), 40–47. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211038377
- Cook, B. G., & Odom, S. L. (2013). Evidence-based practices and implementation science in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 79(3), 135–144. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291307900201
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41(1), 89–91.

 https://doi.org/10.1188/14.onf.89-91
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2023). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. SAGE.
- Dearing, J. W., & Cox, J. G. (2018). Diffusion of innovations theory, principles, and Practice. *Health Affairs*, *37*(2), 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.1104
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Doromal, J. B., Bassok, D., Bellows, L., & Markowitz, A. J. (2022). Hard-to-staff centers: Exploring center-level variation in the persistence of child care teacher turnover. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *61*, 170–178.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2022.07.007

- Dutton Tillery, A., Varjas, K., Meyers, J., & Collins, A. S. (2009). General education teachers' perceptions of behavior management and intervention strategies.

 Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions, 12(2), 86–102.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300708330879
- Eppley, K., Azano, A. P., Brenner, D. G., & Shannon, P. (2018). What counts as evidence in rural schools? evidence-based practice and practice-based evidence for diverse settings. *The Rural Educator*, *39*(2).

 https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v39i2.208
- Estrapala, S., Rila, A., & Bruhn, A. L. (2018). Don't quit cold turkey: Systematic fading to promote sustained behavioral change. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, 51(1), 54–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059918790567
- Ethicist, P. (2015). Simplifying the complexity of confidentiality in research. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 10(1), 100–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264614568783
- Filter, K. J., & Brown, J. (2019). Validation of the PBIS-act full: An updated measure of staff commitment to implement SWPBIS. *Remedial and Special Education*, 40(1), 40–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932518775735
- Fixsen, D., Blase, K., Metz, A., & Van Dyke, M. (2015). Implementation science.

 International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences, 695–702.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-097086-8.10548-3

- Fixsen, D., Blase, K., Metz, A., & Van Dyke, M. (2013). Statewide implementation of evidence-based programs. *Exceptional Children*, 79(3), 213–230. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291307900206
- Foster, L. (2019). The relationship between leadership practices and teachers' fidelity of implementation of a curricular intervention. *Proceedings of the 2019 AERA Annual Meeting*. https://doi.org/10.3102/1447281
- Freeman, J., La Salle, T., Ferrick, M., Derian-Toth, M., Bouckaert, J., Feinberg, A. (2020). Building momentum for PBIS implementation in high need districts.

 OSEP TA Center on PBIS, University of Oregon. www.pbis.org.
- Gage, N. A., Beahm, L., Kaplan, R., MacSuga-Gage, A. S., & Lee, A. (2020). Using positive behavioral interventions and supports to reduce school suspensions.

 Beyond Behavior, 29(3), 132–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/1074295620950611
- Gage, N. A., Grasley-Boy, N., Lombardo, M., & Anderson, L. (2020). The effect of school-wide positive behaviour interventions and supports on disciplinary exclusions: A conceptual replication. *Behavioural Disorders*, 46(1), 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919896305
- Gage, N. A., Grasley-Boy, N., Peshak George, H., Childs, K., & Kincaid, D. (2019). A quasi-experimental design analysis of the effects of school-wide positive behavior interventions and supports on discipline in Florida. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 21(1), 50–61. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300718768208
- Gagnon, J., Barber, B., & Soyturk, I. (2018). Positive behaviour interventions and supports implementation in secure care juvenile justice schools: Results of a

- national survey of school administrators. *Behavioural Disorders*, *44*, 3-19. http://doi.org/10.1177/0198742918763946.
- Georgia Department of Education. (2023). District coordinator expectations and responsibilities.
 - https://archives.gadoe.org/_documents/ci_exceptional/PBIS/District%20Coordinator/District_Coordinator_ER_2011.pdf
- Georgia Department of Education. (2023). Teacher burnout in Georgia. Voices from the classroom. https://www.gadoe.org/External-Affairs-and-
 Policy/communications/Documents/Teacher%20Burnout%20Task%20Force%20
 Report.pdf
- Georgia Department of Education. (2023). PBIS coaches' roles and responsibilities.

 https://www.gadoe.org/Curriculum-Instruction-and-Assessment/Special-

 Education-Services/Documents/PBIS/2021-22/PBIS% 20Coaches.pdf
- Giordano, K., Eastin, S., Calcagno, B., Wilhelm, S., & Gil, A. (2020). Examining the effects of internal versus external coaching on preschool teachers' implementation of a framework of evidence-based social-emotional practices. *Journal of Early Childhood Teacher Education*, 42(4), 423–436.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10901027.2020.1782545
- Goodman-Scott, E., McMahon, G., Kalkbrenner, M. T., Smith-Durkin, S., Patel, S., Czack, A., & Weeks, N. (2022). An ex post facto study examining implementation of positive behavioral interventions and supports across school and community variables from an inclusive innovation perspective. *Journal of*

- Positive Behavior Interventions, 24(4), 255–265. https://doi.org/10.1177/10983007211013784
- Goodman-Scott, E., & Grothaus, T. (2018). School counselors' roles in ramp and PBIS a phenomenological investigation (part Two). *Professional School Counseling*, 21(1). https://doi.org/10.5330/1096-2409-21.1.130
- Grasley-Boy, N. M., Gage, N. A., & Lombardo, M. (2019). Effect of SWPBIS on disciplinary exclusions for students with and without disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 86(1), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402919854196
- Gist, C. (2019). From frazzled to focused: Supporting students with executive function deficits. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *51*(5), 372–381. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059919836990
- Harn, B., Parisi, D., & Stoolmiller, M. (2013). Balancing fidelity with flexibility and fit:

 What do we really know about fidelity of implementation in schools? *Exceptional Children*, 79(2), 181–193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402913079002051
- Hannigan, J., & Hannigan, J. (2020). Best practice PBIS implementation. *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*, 5(1), 36–43. https://doi.org/10.32674/jsard.v5i1.2111
- Hemmeter, M. L., Barton, E., Fox, L., Vatland, C., Henry, G., Pham, L., Horth, K., Taylor, A., Binder, D. P., von der Embse, M., & Veguilla, M. (2022). Programwide implementation of the pyramid model: Supporting fidelity at the program and classroom levels. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *59*, 56–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2021.10.003

- Herman, K. C., Hickmon-Rosa, J., & Reinke, W. M. (2018). Empirically derived profiles of teacher stress, burnout, self-efficacy, and coping and associated student outcomes. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 20(2), 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300717732066
- Horner, R. H., & Macaya, M. M. (2018). A framework for building safe and effective school environments: Positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS).

 Pedagogická Orientace, 28(4), 663–685. https://doi.org/10.5817/pedor2018-4-663
- Horner, R. H., Ward, C. S., Fixsen, D. L., Sugai, G., McIntosh, K., Putnam, R., & Little,
 H. D. (2018). Resource leveraging to achieve large-scale implementation of
 effective educational practices. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 21(2),
 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300718783754
- Howson, A. (2021). Qualitative research methods (sociology). Salem Press Encyclopedia.
- Johnson, L. A. D. (2019). Going to scale: Exploring implementation of positive behaviour intervention and supports within and across different types of early childhood programmes. *Early Child Development and Care*, 189(4), 523–540. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2017.1331219
- Judkins, M., Bosworth, K., & Garcia, R. (2019). Leadership team components leading to implementation success: An exploratory study. *Journal of School Leadership*, 29(5), 409–426. https://doi.org/10.1177/1052684619858835
- Kelly, E. M., Spaulding, S. A., & Davis, C. A. (2022). The role of coaching on the implementation of individualized behavior supports in elementary schools.

- Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions.
- https://doi.org/10.1177/10983007221120253
- Kern, L., George, H. P., Fintel, N., Baton, E. (2022). PBIS implementation in rural schools in the U.S. Center on PBIS, University of Oregon. www.pbis.org
- Kim, J., McIntosh, K., Mercer, S. H., & Nese, R. N. (2018). Longitudinal associations between SWPBIS fidelity of implementation and behavior and academic outcomes. *Behavioral Disorders*, 43(3), 357–369. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742917747589
- King, L., McKim, A., Raven, M., & Pauley, C. (2019). New and emerging technologies:

 Teacher needs, adoption, methods, and student engagement. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 60(3). https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2019.03277
- Kittelman, A., Strickland-Cohen, M. K., Conley, K. M., & Horner, R. H. (2022).
 Allocating resources for tier 2 and 3 implementation within positive behavioral interventions and supports. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 004005992211258.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599221125889
- Kittelman, A., Goodman, S., & Rowe, D. A. (2021). Effective teaming to implement evidence-based practices. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *53*(4), 264–267. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059921993020
- Kittelman, A., Rowe, D. A., & McIntosh, K. (2021). Using improvement cycles to improve implementation of evidence-based practices. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *54*(2), 92–94. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211060053

- Kittelman, A., Strickland-Cohen, M. K., Pinkelman, S. E., & McIntosh, K. (2020).
 Variables contributing to abandonment and readoption of SWPBIS. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 22(2), 67–77.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1098300719888748
- Kittelman, A., McIntosh, K., & Hoselton, R. (2019). Adoption of PBIS within school districts. *Journal of School Psychology*, 76, 159–167.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.03.007
- Kittelman, A., Eliason, B. M., Dickey, C. R., & McIntosh, K. (2018). How are schools using the SWPBIS Tiered Fidelity Inventory (TFI)? OSEP Technical Assistance Center on Positive Behavioral Interventions and Supports. www.pbis.org.
- Koch, T. (1994). Establishing rigour in qualitative research: The decision trail. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 19(5), 976–986. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1994.tb01177.x
- Lancet, S., McKittrick, L., & Morando Rhim, L. (2021). Leadership as an implementation driver: Identifying best practices to support organizational change. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/10442073211066793
- Lastrapes, R. (2020). Effects of a prompting intervention on preschool teachers' use of behavior-specific praise. *Proceedings of the 2020 AERA Annual Meeting*. https://doi.org/10.3102/1571341
- Larson, M., Cook, C. R., Fiat, A., & Lyon, A. R. (2018). Stressed teachers don't make good implementers: Examining the interplay between stress reduction and

- Intervention Fidelity. *School Mental Health*, 10(1), 61–76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-018-9250-y
- Lee, E. O., Lacey, H. M., Van Valkenburg, S., McGinnis, E., Huber, B. J., Benner, G. J., & Strycker, L. A. (2023). What about me? the importance of teacher social and emotional learning and well-being in the classroom. *Beyond Behavior*.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/10742956221145942
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2006). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Sage Publications.
- Lindstrom Johnson, S., Alfonso, Y. N., Pas, E. T., Debnam, K. J., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2020). Scaling up positive behavioral interventions and supports: Costs and their distribution across state, districts, and Schools. *School Psychology Review*, 49(4), 399–414. https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966x.2020.1777831
- Lloyd, B. P., Bruhn, A. L., Sutherland, K. S., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2018). Progress and priorities in research to improve outcomes for students with or at risk for emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 44(2), 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742918808485
- Lloyd, B. P., Carter, E. W., Shuster, B. C., Axelroth, T. L., Davis, A. D., Hine, M. C.,
 Porritt, M. M., Haynes, R. L., Fareed, S. A., & Slaughter, J. C. (2023).
 Perspectives on the initial adoption of multitiered systems of support for behavior.
 Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/10983007211024378
- Lloyd, B. P., Randall, K. R., Weaver, E. S., Staubitz, J. L., & Parikh, N. (2019). An initial evaluation of a concurrent operant analysis framework to identify reinforcers for

- work completion. *Behavioral Disorders*, *45*(2), 85–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/0198742919837647
- Lyon, A. R. (n.d.). *Implementation science and practice brief in the education sector*.

 https://education.uw.edu/sites/default/files/Implementation%20Science%20Issue
 %20Brief%20072617.pdf
- Lyon, A., Cook, C., Brown, E., Locke, J., Davis, C., Ehrhart, M., & Aarons, G. (2018).

 Assessing organizational implementation context in the education sector:

 confirmatory factor analysis of measures of implementation leadership, climate,
 and citizenship. *Implementation Science*, *13*(1), 1–14.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0705-6
- Markelz, A. M., & Riden, B. S. (2019). Using apple watch to increase behavior specific praise and promote a positive learning environment. *Journal of Special Education Apprenticeship*, 8(2). https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/josea/vol8/iss2/6
- Massar, M. M., McIntosh, K., & Mercer, S. H. (2019). Factor validation of a fidelity of implementation measure for social behavior systems. *Remedial and Special Education*, 40(1), 16–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932517736515
- McDaniel, S., & Kim, S., & Kwon, D., & Choi, Y. (2018). Stakeholder perceptions of contextual factors related to PBIS implementation in high need schools. *Journal* of Children and Poverty, 24, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1080/10796126.2018.1518777.
- McColskey-Leary, C. & Garman-McClaine, B. (2021). Integrating improvement and implementation sciences to enhance educational outcomes. National

- Implementation Research Network, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill.
- McIntosh, K., Ellwood, K., McCall, L., & Girvan, E. J. (2018). Using discipline data to enhance equity in school discipline. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *53*(3), 146–152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053451217702130
- McIntosh, K., Girvan, E. J., McDaniel, S. C., Santiago-Rosario, M. R., St. Joseph, S., Fairbanks Falcon, S., Izzard, S., & Bastable, E. (2021). Effects of an equity-focused PBIS approach to school improvement on exclusionary discipline and school climate. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 65(4), 354–361. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988x.2021.1937027
- McIntosh, K., Mercer, S. H., Nese, R. N., Strickland-Cohen, M. K., Kittelman, A.,
 Hoselton, R., & Horner, R. H. (2018). Factors predicting sustained
 implementation of a universal behavior support framework. *Educational Researcher*, 47(5), 307–316. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x18776975
- Melekoglu, M., & Diken, I. H. (2022). The effectiveness of school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports in early childhood settings: A mixed model research. *International Online Journal of Primary Education (IOJPE), 11*(1), 109-135. https://doi.org/10.55020/iojpe.1052521
- Menzies, H. M., Oakes, W. P., Lane, K. L., Royer, D. J., Cantwell, E. D., Common, E.
 A., & Buckman, M. (2020). Elementary teachers' perceptions of a comprehensive, integrated, three-tiered model of prevention. *Remedial and Special Education*, 42(4), 207–219. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932519896860
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). Qualitative research: A guide to design and

- implementation (4th ed.). Josey-Bass.
- Myers, D., Simonsen, B., & Freeman, J. L. (2020). *Implementing classwide PBIS: A guide to supporting teachers*. The Guilford Press, a division of Guilford Publications, Inc.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. Sage Publications.
- Moir, T. (2018). Why is implementation science important for intervention design and evaluation within educational settings? *Frontiers in Education*, *3*.61 https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2018.00061
- Morgan, D. L. (2009). Focus groups as qualitative research. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Morris, K., Lewis, T., & Mitchell, B. (2022). Drilling down district data: Analyzing reach and fidelity of PBIS implementation. Center on PBIS, University of Oregon.

 www.pbis.org
- Nelen, M. J., Blonk, A., Scholte, R. H., & Denessen, E. (2019). School-wide positive behavior interventions and supports: Fidelity of tier 1 implementation in 117

 Dutch schools. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 22(3), 156–166.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300719879621
- Nese, R. N., Kittelman, A., Strickland-Cohen, M. K., & McIntosh, K. (2023). Examining teaming and tier 2 and 3 practices within a PBIS framework. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 25(1), 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1177/10983007211051090
- Nese, R. N., Nese, J. F., McIntosh, K., Mercer, S. H., & Kittelman, A. (2019). Predicting

- latency of reaching adequate implementation of tier I schoolwide positive behavioral interventions and supports. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 21(2), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300718783755
- Newcomer, K. E., Hatry, H. P., & Wholey, J. S. (2015). *Handbook of practical program* evaluation. Jossey-Bass, a Wiley imprint.
- Nichols, J. A., Nichols, W. D., & Rupley, W. H. (2020). Teacher efficacy and attributes on the implementation of tiered instructional frameworks. *International Journal of Evaluation and Research in Education*, 9(3), 731–742.

 https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1274717.pdf
- Nilsen, P. (2015). Making sense of implementation theories, models and frameworks. *Implementation Science*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-015-0242-0
- Nilsen, P., Ståhl, C., Roback, K., & Cairney, P. (2013). Never the Twain shall meet? A comparison of implementation science and policy implementation research. *Implementation Science*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-8-63
- Noltemeyer, A., Palmer, K., James, A. G., & Petrasek, M. (2019). Disciplinary and achievement outcomes associated with school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports implementation level. *School Psychology Review*, 48(1), 81–87. https://doi.org/10.17105/spr-2017-0131.v48-1
- Noltemeyer, A., Petrasek, M., Stine, K., Palmer, K., Meehan, C., & Jordan, E. (2018). Evaluating and celebrating PBIS success: Development and implementation of Ohio's PBIS recognition system. *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, *34*(3), 215–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/15377903.2017.1381659

- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis.

 *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 16(1).

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Oakes, W. P., Lane, K. L., Royer, D. J., Menzies, H. M., Buckman, M. M., Brunsting, N., Cantwell, E. D., Schatschneider, C., & Lane, N. A. (2021). Elementary teachers' self-efficacy during initial implementation of comprehensive, integrated, three-tiered models of prevention. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 23(2), 93–105. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300720916718
- Odom, S. L., Hall, L. J., & Steinbrenner, J. R. (2019). Implementation science research and special education. *Exceptional Children*, 86(2), 117–119.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402919889888
- Odom, S. L., Cox, A. W., & Brock, M. E. (2013). Implementation science, professional development, and autism spectrum disorders. *Exceptional Children*, 79(3), 233–251. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291307900207
- Palmer, K., & Noltemeyer, A. (2019). Professional development in schools: Predictors of effectiveness and implications for statewide PBIS trainings. *Teacher*Development, 23(5), 511–528. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2019.1660211
- Pas, E. T., Lindstrom Johnson, S., Alfonso, Y. N., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2020). Tracking time and resources associated with systems change and the adoption of evidence-based programs: The "hidden costs" of school-based coaching. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-020-01039-w

- Pas, E. T., Ryoo, J. H., Musci, R. J., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019). A state-wide quasi-experimental effectiveness study of the scale-up of school-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports. *Journal of School Psychology*, 73, 41–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.03.001
- Pas, E. T., Johnson, S. R., Debnam, K. J., Hulleman, C. S., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2019).
 Examining the relative utility of PBIS implementation fidelity scores in relation to student outcomes. *Remedial and Special Education*, 40(1), 6–15.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932518805192
- Payno-Simmons, R. L. (2021). Centering equity in school discipline: The Michigan PBIS equity pilot. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 65(4), 343–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988x.2021.1937024
- Pressley, T. (2021). Factors contributing to teacher burnout during COVID-19. *Educational Researcher*, 50(5), 325–327. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189x211004138
- Ramanadhan, S., Revette, A. C., Lee, R. M., & Aveling, E. L. (2021). Pragmatic approaches to analyzing qualitative data for implementation science: An introduction. *Implementation Science Communications*, 2(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s43058-021-00174-1
- Robbie, K., Angelosante, C., Artesani, J., Kern, L., & George, H. P. (2022). Establishing a rural regional cohort: Supporting fidelity of PBIS implementation in rural schools. Center on PBIS, University of Oregon. www.pbis.org

- Robert, C. (2020). Implementing discipline reform: One district's experience with PBIS. *School Leadership Review*, *15*(1). https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/slr/vol15/iss1/22
- Rucinski, C. L., Brown, J. L., & Downer, J. T. (2018). Teacher–child relationships, classroom climate, and children's social-emotional and academic development.

 Journal of Educational Psychology, 110(7), 992–1004.

 https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000240
- Sailor, W., Skrtic, T. M., Cohn, M., & Olmstead, C. (2020). Preparing teacher educators for statewide scale-up of multi-tiered system of support (MTSS). *Teacher Education and Special Education: The Journal of the Teacher Education Division of the Council for Exceptional Children*, 44(1), 24–41.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406420938035
- Saunders, A. F., Wakeman, S., Cerrato, B., & Johnson, H. (2021). Professional development with ongoing coaching: A model for improving educators' implementation of evidence-based practices. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211049821
- Scaletta, M., & Hughes, M. T. (2022). Administrators' perception of their role in school-wide positive behavior interventions and supports implementation. *Journal of School Leadership*, 32(3), 267–288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1052684620972062
- Scaletta, M., & Tejero Hughes, M. (2021). Sustained positive behavioral interventions and supports implementation: School leaders discuss their processes and practices.

- *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 23(1), 30–41. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300720924350
- Scherer, C. & Ingle, K. (2020). An examination of PBIS implementation fidelity and student outcomes in an urban school district. https://doi.org/10.18297/etd/3026
- Scott, T. M., Gage, N. A., Hirn, R. G., Lingo, A. S., & Burt, J. (2019). An examination of the association between MTSS implementation fidelity measures and student outcomes. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 63(4), 308–316. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988x.2019.1605971
- Simonsen, B., Sugai, G., George, H.P., Freeman, J., & Evanovich, L. (2019). Preventing restraint and seclusion in schools. Eugene, OR: OSEP TA Center on PBIS,

 University of Oregon. www.pbis.org
- Simonsen, B., & Sugai, G. (2019). School-wide positive behavioral interventions and supports: A systems-level application of behavioral principles. *Behavioral Interventions in Schools: Evidence-Based Positive Strategies (2nd Ed.).*, 35–60. https://doi.org/10.1037/0000126-003
- Steed, E. A., Leech, N. L., & Shapland, D. (2022). Early childhood teachers' inclusion in their elementary school's social emotional multitiered system of supports: A mixed methods study. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 109830072211202. https://doi.org/10.1177/10983007221120282
- Sugai, G., & Horner, R. H. (2020). Sustaining and scaling positive behavioral interventions and supports: Implementation drivers, outcomes, and considerations. *Exceptional Children*, 86(2), 120–136.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402919855331

- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3). https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Trump, C., Pennington, R., Travers, J., Ringdahl, J., Whiteside, E., & Ayres, K. (2018).

 Applied behavior analysis in special education: Misconceptions and guidelines for use. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *50*(6), 381–393.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059918775020
- Tyre, A. D., & Feuerborn, L. L. (2021). Ten common misses in pbis implementation.

 *Beyond Behavior, 30(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/1074295621996874
- Van Camp, A. M., Wehby, J. H., Copeland, B. A., & Bruhn, A. L. (2021). Building from the bottom up: The importance of tier 1 supports in the context of tier 2 interventions. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 23(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300720916716
- von Ravensberg, H. (2020). Funding PBIS implementation through ESSA Title IV, part

 A funds. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3526527
- Walker, J. D., Johnson, K. M., & Randolph, K. M. (2020). Teacher self-advocacy for the shared responsibility of classroom and behavior management. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, 53(3), 216–225.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059920980481
- Ward, C. S., Kittelman, A., & Rowe, D. A. (2021). Supporting evidence-based practices:

 What implementation activities are needed when for success? *TEACHING*

- Exceptional Children, 53(5), 332–335.
- https://doi.org/10.1177/00400599211010176
- Weingarten, Z., Zumeta Edmonds, R., & Arden, S. (2020). Better together: Using MTSS as a structure for building school–family partnerships. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, *53*(2), 122–130. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040059920937733
- Weist, M. D., Eber, L., Horner, R., Splett, J., Putnam, R., Barrett, S., Perales, K., Fairchild, A. J., & Hoover, S. (2018). Improving multitiered systems of support for students with "internalizing" emotional/behavioral problems. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, 20(3), 172–184.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300717753832
- Wennerstrom, E., Stegenga, S., Allen, R., McIntosh, K., Smith, J., Ferro, J., Winnekar, A., & Clayback, K. (2021). Early childhood program-wide PBIS Benchmarks of Quality (BOQ). Center on PBIS, University of Oregon. www.pbis.org
- White, K. R., Radley, K. C., Olmi, D. J., & McKinley, L. E. (2021). Increasing teachers' use of behavior specific praise via Apple watch prompting. *Psychology in the Schools*, *59*(3), 480–494. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22622
- Wienen, A. W., Reijnders, I., Aggelen, M. H., Bos, E. H., Batstra, L., & Jonge, P. (2018).

 The relative impact of school-wide positive behavior support on teachers' perceptions of student behavior across schools, teachers, and students. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(2), 232–241. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22209
- Winnekar, A., & Fox, L., (2020). PBIS in early childhood classrooms on school campuses. Center on PBIS, University of Oregon. www.pbis.org.

 $Yanek,\,K.\,\&\,Goodman,\,S.\,(2023).\,Organizing\,\,and\,\,supporting\,\,adults\,\,to\,\,implement\,\,PCBS.$

Center on PBIS, University of Oregon. www.pbis.org

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. In addition to being a PBIS coach, what other positions/roles and responsibilities do you have at your school?
- 2. What is the objective for schools utilizing PBIS implementation and assigning PBIS coaches to assist with the process?
- 3. What qualifications and training are required to become a PBIS coach?
- 4. What resources have been provided to improve PBIS implementation at your school?
- 5. What are your daily responsibilities in the role of a PBIS coach?
- 6. How does the PBIS coaching process affect successful PBIS implementation?
- 7. What challenges have you experienced as an early childhood teacher who is a PBIS coach?
- 8. What are some of the successes have you experienced as an early childhood PBIS coach?
- 9. What do you believe you need to improve PBIS implementation at your school?
- 10. Is there any additional information that you would like to share about being a PBIS coach or PBIS implementation?

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Date of the inter	view:
Begin Time:	End time:
	Interviewee:
Method of interv	view recording:
Pre-Interview S	Script:
preserve your tir	ank you for deciding to participate in this qualitative study. In an effort to me, I will strive to complete this interview in a prompt manner. The ke approximately 45 to 60 minutes to complete. I will be taking notes process.
perspectives of the school. This University doctors served in the cap	his basic qualitative study is to explore early childhood teachers' being a PBIS coach and their experiences with implementations within interview is being conducted by myself, Tiesha L. Allen, a Walden oral student. I have been in education for approximately 20 years. I have bacities of an early childhood teacher and intervention specialist. I am ector of the PBIS department within my school district.
position in the so	in this study, I will not pose any risks to your health, well-being, or chool system. The interview will remain confidential, and your identity public. The data collected will be secured and used for this study only.
I have your perm	ne interview will be recorded, and you can withdraw during any time. Do nission to audio record this interview? Thank you. Do you have any rding will begin now.
Demographic Q	Questions
2. How long	g have you been in education? g have you been an early childhood education teacher? g have you been a PBIS coach?

Post-Interview Script

Thank you for participating in this qualitative study. I am grateful that you have shared your experiences as an early childhood teacher and PBIS coach. Once the study is completed, I will send you a summary and any feedback you have will be appreciated. Before ending our interview, I would like to know if you have any questions. Thank you again for participating.